
 
 

 

 
 

 

COMMONS AND RIGHTS OCOMMONS AND RIGHTS OCOMMONS AND RIGHTS OCOMMONS AND RIGHTS OF WAY F WAY F WAY F WAY 

COMMITTEECOMMITTEECOMMITTEECOMMITTEE    

    

10.00 am10.00 am10.00 am10.00 am    

 

Tuesday 29 September 2015Tuesday 29 September 2015Tuesday 29 September 2015Tuesday 29 September 2015  

 

 

Cabinet Suite Cabinet Suite Cabinet Suite Cabinet Suite ----    Shire Hall, GloucesterShire Hall, GloucesterShire Hall, GloucesterShire Hall, Gloucester 

 

 

 

MEETING PAPERS 

 
 



 
 



 
 

 

 
 

 

COMMONS AND RIGHTS OF WAY COMMITTEE 
 

TIME: 10.00 am 

DATE: Tuesday 29 September 2015 

VENUE: Cabinet Suite - Shire Hall, Gloucester 

 
A G E N D A 

 
ITEM TOPIC 

 
CONTACT 

1. Election of Chairman   
  

To elect a Chairman for the civic year. 
 

Jane Cleaver 
Tel: 01452  
324220 

2. Election of Vice-chairman   
  

To elect a Vice-chairman for the civic year. 
 

Jane Cleaver 
Tel: 01452  
324220 

3. Minutes (Pages 1 - 2)  
  

To approve as a correct record the Minutes of the meeting held on 
24 April 2015. 
 

Jane Cleaver 
Tel: 01452  
324220 

4. Public Questions on Application(s)   
  

To answer any written public questions about the application(s) 
before the Committee at this meeting.  The closing date /time for 
the receipt of questions  
is 10 am on 22 September 2015. 
 
With the consent of the Chairperson, to answer any oral 
question(s) on the application(s) before the Committee at this 
meeting put by members of the public, provided that notice of such 
has been given to the Chief Executive (or his representative) by 
9.30am on 29 September. 
 
Depending on the nature of the oral questions asked it may not be 
possible to provide a comprehensive answer at the meeting, in 
which case a written answer will be supplied as soon as 
reasonably possible after the meeting. 
 
 

Jane Cleaver 
Tel: 01452  
324220 

5. Members Questions on Application(s)   



 
 

 To answer any written members’ questions on the application(s) 
before Committee at the meeting. The closing date/time for the 
receipt of questions is 10am on 22 September. 
 
 

Jane Cleaver 
Tel: 01452  
324220 

6. Application for a Definitive Map Modification Order to 
Upgrade Public Footpaths MBL/11 (Part) MBL/13 to 
Bridleways Toadsmoor Road, Parish of Bisley with Lypiatt 
(Pages 3 - 42) 

Andrew 
Houldey 
 

7. Application for a Definitive Map Modification Order to 
Upgrade Public Footpath DLH/9 to a Bridleway May Hill, 
Parish of Longhope (Pages 43 - 92) 

Andrew 
Houldey 
 

8. Public Questions (Pages 93 - 94)  
 To answer any written or public questions about the matters, 

which are within the powers and duties of the Committee. 
The closing date /time for the receipt of questions is 10am on 22 
September 2015. 
 
To answer any oral question(s) put by members of the public, 
provided that notice of such has been given to the Chief Executive 
(or his representative) by 9.30am on 29 September. 
 
Depending on the nature of the oral questions asked it may not be 
possible to provide a comprehensive answer at the meeting, in 
which case a written answer will be supplied as soon as 
reasonably possible after the meeting. 
 

Jane Cleaver 
Tel: 01452  
324220 

9. Members' Questions   
 To answer any written members’ questions. The closing date/time 

for the receipt of questions is 10am on 22 September 2015. 
 

Jane Cleaver 
Tel: 01452  
324220 

 

NOTES 

(a) MEMBERSHIP –Cllr Dr John Cordwell, Cllr Tony Hicks, Cllr Richard Leppington, 
Cllr Paul McMahon, Cllr Nigel Moor, Cllr David Prince, Cllr Lynden Stowe, 
Cllr Robert Vines and Cllr Simon Wheeler 
 

(b) DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST – Members requiring advice or clarification 
about whether to make a declaration of interest are invited to contact the 
Monitoring Officer: Jane Burns �01452 328472 /fax: 425149/e-mail: 
jane.burns@gloucestershire.gov.uk prior to the commencement of the meeting.  
 

(c) Will Members please sign the attendance list. 
 

(d) Please note substitution arrangements are in place as detailed in the 
Constitution. 
 



 
 

(e) INSPECTION OF PAPERS AND GENERAL QUERIES - If you wish to inspect 
reports relating to any item on this Agenda or have any other general queries 
about the meeting, please contact  
 
Jane Cleaver, Senior Democratic Services Advisor, 01452 324220 e-mail 
jane.cleaver@gloucestershire.gov.uk  
 

(f) RECORDING OF MEETINGS - Please note that photography, filming and audio 
recording of Council meetings is permitted subject to the Local Government 
Access to Information provisions.  Please contact Democratic Services (tel 
01452 324220) to make the necessary arrangements ahead of the meeting.  If 
you are a member of the public and do not wish to be photographed or filmed 
please inform the Democratic Services Officer on duty at the meeting.   
 

 

EVACUATION PROCEDURE - in the event of the fire alarms sounding during the 
meeting please leave as directed in a calm and orderly manner and go to the 
assembly point which is outside the main entrance to Shire Hall in Westgate Street.  
Please remain there and await further instructions. 

 



This page is intentionally left blank



 

- 1 - 

COMMONS AND RIGHTS OF WAY COMMITTEE 
 

MINUTES of a meeting of the Commons and Rights of Way Committee held on 
Wednesday 22 April 2015 at the Council Chamber - Shire Hall, Gloucester. 

 
 

PRESENT:  

 Cllr Dr John Cordwell 
Cllr Tony Hicks 
Cllr Richard Leppington 
Cllr Paul McMahon 
 

Cllr Nigel Moor 
Cllr David Prince 
Cllr Robert Vines 
Cllr Simon Wheeler 
 

Substitutes: Cllr Phil Awford 
 

Apologies: Cllr Lynden Stowe 

 
13. MINUTES -  

 
 
Resolved 
 
That the minutes of the meetings held on 2 and 19 February 2015 be approved as 
a correct record. 
 
 

14. PUBLIC QUESTIONS ON APPLICATION(S)  
 
 
No questions were received from members of the public on the application. 
 
 

15. MEMBERS QUESTIONS ON APPLICATION(S)  
 
 
No questions were received from Councillors on the application. 
 
 

16. APPLICATION FOR THE REGISTRATION OF LAND KNOWN AS "THE 
HUMPTY DUMPS", AT BOWLING GREEN LANE, CIRENCESTER, 
GLOUCESTERSHIRE  
 
 
Carrie Denness, Principal Lawyer, presented the report on the application to 
register land known as “The Humpty Dumps” at Bowling Green Lane, Cirencester, 
Gloucestershire as a new town or village green. 
 
During a detailed introduction Ms Denness highlighted that the application before 
the Committee failed the legal tests both for proof of locality and on the production 

Agenda Item 3

Page 1



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting 
 

 

- 2 - 
 

of sufficient evidence to prove use of the site for lawful sports and pastimes for the 
required period of 20 years. 
 
The Committee noted the findings of the Inspector following the non-statutory public 
inquiry held on 17 to 21 November 2014.  
 
Ms Denness confirmed in response to questions from Members that no information 
was available on the site owners plans for possible development of the site in the 
future. 
 
Having considered the information before it including the Inspector’s 
recommendation, the Committee 
 
Resolved 
 
That the Application dated 17 January 2013 made by FROTH (“the Applicant”) for 
the registration of an area of land known as “The Humpty Dumps” at Bowling Green 
Lane, Cirencester, Gloucestershire (as shown edged red on the plan attached to 
the Application Appendix 1) as a town or village green pursuant to section 15(3) of 
the Commons Act 2006 be REFUSED for the reasons set out in the Inspector’s 

report attached at Appendix 2. 
 
 

17. PUBLIC QUESTIONS -  
 
 
No questions had been received from members of the public. 
 
 

18. MEMBERS' QUESTIONS -  
 
 
No questions had been received from Councillors. 
 
 
 

 
CHAIRMAN 

 
Meeting concluded at 10:20 

 
 

Page 2



 

COMMONS AND RIGHTS OF WAY COMMITTEE  
29 SEPTEMBER 2015  
 
AGENDA ITEM: 1  

 
 

APPLICATION FOR A DEFINITIVE MAP MODIFICATION ORDER TO UPGRADE 
PUBLIC FOOTPATHS MBL/11 (PART) AND MBL/13 TO BRIDLEWAYS 

TOADSMOOR WOOD, PARISH OF BISLEY WITH LYPIATT 
 

REPORT OF THE COMMISSIONING DIRECTOR  
FOR COMMUNITIES & INFRASTRUCTURE  

 
 
1.    PURPOSE OF REPORT 
 

To consider the following application: 
 
Nature of Application: Upgrade public footpaths MBL/11 (part) 

and MBL/13 to bridleways  

Parish: Bisley with Lypiatt 

Name of Applicant: Vicki Portman  

Date of Application: 27 July 2010  

 
2.    RECOMMENDATION 

 
That an order be made to reclassify the claimed route to a bridleway  
 

3.    RESOURCE IMPLICATIONS 
 

Cost of advertising Order in the local press, which has to be done twice, is 
approximately £500 per notice. 
In addition, the County Council is responsible for meeting the costs of any Public 
Inquiry associated with the application. 
If the application were successful, the path would become maintainable at the 
public expense. 

  
4.    SUSTAINABILITY & EQUALITY IMPLICATIONS 

 
No sustainability implications have been identified.  

 
5. STATUTORY AUTHORITY 

 
Section 53 of the Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981 imposes a duty on the County 
Council, as surveying authority, to keep the Definitive Map and Statement under 
continuous review and to modify it in consequence of the occurrence of an ‘event’ 
specified in sub section [3].  Any person may make an application to the authority 
for a Definitive Map Modification Order on the occurrence of an ‘event’ under 

Agenda Item 6

Page 3



 

section 53 [3] [b] or [c].  The County Council is obliged to determine any such 
application that satisfies the required submission criteria in accordance with 
schedule 14 of the Act. 

 
6.    DEPARTMENTAL CONTACT 

 
Andrew Houldey, Asset Data Officer (PROW Definitive Map), Definitive Map Unit, 
Highway Records, Asset Data Team.  Telephone Gloucester (01452) 328984 
E-mail: andrew.houldey@gloucestershire.gov.uk  
 

 
REPORT 
 
7. DESCRIPTION OF PATH 
 
7.1 A location map at scale 1:10,000 is attached (numbered 1A) showing the position 

of the claimed paths at Toadsmoor Wood in the parish of Bisley with Lypiatt.  The 
claimed route is over the ways presently shown on the Definitive Map as public 
footpaths MBL/11 (part) and MBL/13.  The claimed path is approximately 2 miles 
east-south east of the town of Stroud.  The area of interest lies within Ordnance 
Survey Grid Square SO 8804. 

 
7.2 A large-scale map showing the whole of the claimed route at 1: 3,000 scale is 

attached (numbered 1B).  This map shows the claimed path by a broken black line 
between points A, B, C and D.  MBL/11 runs from the end of the county-
maintained class 5 no-through road, number 51167, known as Inglenook, 
Bussage, and then runs in a generally north-westerly direction for approximately 
75 metres to a junction with public footpath MBL/13 at point B.   
 

7.3 MBL/11 continues in a north-westerly direction, but the claimed route follows 
public footpath MBL/13 in a generally north-easterly direction along the edge of 
Toadsmoor Pond for approximately 275 metres to point C, west of Keepers 
Cottage.  The claimed way then follows the route of existing footpath MBL/13 in a 
generally north-easterly direction past Keepers Cottage and Cutham’s Stile along 
the course of a brook for approximately 825 metres to point D, which is the 
junction with dually-recorded way MBL/65 / 41220, known as Forty Acre Lane to 
Bismore.  The total length of the claimed way is 1175 metres.  
 

7.4 The path was inspected on 24 April 2013.  The road at point A crosses the brook 
leading out of Toadsmoor Pond by way of a concreted bridge and an adjacent 
ford.  At point A is a County Council signpost which reads “Public Footpath No 
Motor Vehicles”.  On a separate sign, on the same pole, is the wording “Except 
residents, deliveries and authorised vehicles”.  The way between points A and B is 
of vehicular width, and has a stoned surface. 
 

7.5 At point B, where paths MBL/11 and MBL/13 join, there is a GCC sign, directed at 
users of the northward continuation MBL/1, which reads “No through bridleway. 
Footpath only ahead”.  The claimed route continues as a vehicular width track, 
approximately 2.4 metres in width, running along the bank of Toadsmoor Pond to 
point C.   

Page 4



 

 
7.6 At point C is a green County Council sign which reads “Glos County Council Public 

Footpath only No horses or motorcycles”, which is positioned so that it is visible to 
users of path MBL/13 (the claimed way).  The claimed route between points A, B 
and C forms the vehicular access to Keepers Cottage.  The path continues 
eastwards to the south of Keepers Cottage.  The path here narrows in front of 
Keepers Cottage, and then widens to approximately 1.7 metres.  The path 
between points C and D is unsurfaced but clearly defined as a result of use; there 
is a muddy section approximately 20 metres west of Cutham’s Stile, where the 
path meets public footpath MBL/15.  At the eastern end, towards point D, the 
surface is partly made up of small stones.   
 

7.7 At point D, where the claimed route meets a Class 4 road / restricted byway 
MBL/65 leading to Ferris Court, is a green County Council sign which reads:  

Glos County Council 
Public Footpath only 
No horses 
or motorcycles 

This sign is similar to the one at point C, and to the sign that was photographed at 
this point in April 1999 (see section 8). 

 
 

8. BACKGROUND 

8.1 The application concerns the rights of way MBL/11 and MBL/13, which are 
currently shown on the Definitive Map and Statement as public footpaths.  (The 
Definitive Map and Statement is the legal record of rights of way in the county).  
The Public Rights of Way Area Officer’s files for MBL/11 and MBL/13 contain a 
number of references to complaints about the surface, the use of horses over 
these ways and the erection of signs forbidding this use.  The references to use by 
horses and the steps taken by either the landowner or the County Council (who 
have an overriding interest in the surface of these ways under s.263 of the 1980 
Highways Act) to prevent such use are extracted below.  

 
8.2 Customer Complaint Monitoring Log, dated 15 December 1995 regarding MBL/13.  

Following drainage works close to Bismore Bridge it is noted “After completion of 
work, there was evidence of some (slight) use by horses.  To stop such use 
increasing, we have agreed with Mr Young [the landowner] to erect ‘No Horses’ 
signs.  If these don’t work, we’ll have to talk to him again and consider barriers.  
Barriers will be a problem, as he would like to retain vehicular access, so at least 
one end there’d have to be a gate”.  

 
8.3 Ros John, Public Rights of Way Officer, wrote to Mr R N Cullimore on 20 August 

1996 to enquire whether he was the owner of the woodland through which public 
footpath MBL/13 ran.  She notes:  “It is an attractive stream-side route which is 
shown on the Definitive Map as a footpath only.  Other tracks in the wood, which 
are not rights of way, appear to be used quite extensively by horse-riders.  Such 
use appears to be sanctioned by the owner and it is not our concern anyway if not 
on public rights of way.  However there is at least some degree of horse use on 
the footpath, which is our concern.  To avoid damage to its surface and keep it in 

Page 5



 

reasonable condition for walkers, we might like to consider a simple timber barrier 
at each end so as to keep horses off it”.  

 
8.4 Job Description and Costs issued by Ros John of Public Rights of Way, dated 4 

October 1996 (Copy at appendix 1F).  Erect ‘Public Footpath Only- No Horses or 
Motorcycles’ signs at points A and B [attached map shows these points to be at 
Keepers Cottage and Bismore Bridge] (copy at appendix 1G)  Additional note 
states: “Owner of woods Mr Young, Meadow Cottage, Middle Lypiatt- I have 
consulted him and he agrees with keeping horses off this path”. 

 

8.5 File note by Amanda Keys for Ros John, 25 October 1996 “a few horses have 
been along it, so have, therefore, agreed with the landowner, Mr Young, to erect 
No Horses signs.  If the use continues we might have to erect barriers as well.”  

 
8.6 File note by Ros John, 3 February 1997: 

MBL 13 Footpath Status on D.M. 
“Old correspondence with Bisley PC (copies given to Amanda [Keys] 25.10.96) 
appears to make clear that the PC had some doubt about whether to claim it as 
FP or BW- but decided FP only.  No other evidence known to me that it is more 
than FP.  Owner Mr Young of Meadow Cottage, Lypiatt, owns these woods.  He 
generally allows horse-riders to use many of the tracks, and some riders have 
evidently used this one.  However, this use appears to be “permissive” and not as 
of right.  Mr Young agrees we should try to keep riders off MBL 13, to keep it in 
reasonable condition for walkers.  But as he might need vehicular access, ‘could 
we start off just with signs, not fixed barriers, and see if that solves the problem’.  
Still some horse use evident now, but only slight- 2 or 3 sets of hoofprints, surface 
ok.”  

 
8.7 Customer complaint monitoring log, dated 3 October 1997 recording a complaint 

about the surface of MBL/13:  “No action proposed.  I have seen MBL 13.  There is 
no evidence of motorcycle / bike use, our signs are undamaged and correctly 
aligned, there are no hoof-prints and only one (not recent) horse deposit!  There is 
a 20 metre (approx.) mud-bound section about 160m NE of Cuthams Stile.  It is 
not caused by unlawful use.  One can skirt it with care.  The overall standard (for a 
woodland route) is good. 

 
8.8 Mark Parker, Operations Officer, Public Rights of Way, wrote to the complainant 

on 20 October 1997 regarding MBL 13:  “….The major problem on the path had 
been a dangerously deep gully, caused by water erosion, at the Bismore Bridge 
end.  Following remedial work in 1996 and to safeguard the repaired surface, we 
subsequently erected the “No horses or motorcycles” signs with the agreement of 
the woodland owner.  We believe the signs have largely achieved their purpose 
and there is little evidence now of unlawful use.  There may still be a small degree 
of horse use as landowners, and people with their permission, are of course 
entitled to ride on their own land.  For this reason, we have for the time being 
postponed the idea of some form of physical barrier, but this is something we 
might consider- subject to the owner’s agreement- in the future if use by horses 
did cause significant surface-damage”.  

 

Page 6



 

8.9 Letter from a member of the public complaining about the surface of MBL/13, 
dated 18 March 1999:  “…the footpath from the Toadsmoor Pond, north-western 
side, up to Bismore Bridge: there’s a fine sign erected by the GCC stating “No 
riding” yet the gruesomely churned up mud yesterday had clear hoofprints.  Can a 
horse obstacle be placed there?  The path is in quite dreadful condition owing to 
the tree felling activities at its side as well as the horse riding; who is responsible 
for restoring the path to its former pleasant state?”  The letter has been annotated 
by the Rights of Way Officer:  “No.  The landowner rides there and permits others 
to do so!  Main damage is caused by the timber contractors”.  

 

8.10 Customer complaint monitoring log, dated 27 March 1999, states: “I have 
explained to customer that landowner [Mr Young] (and other horseriders with his 
consent) may lawfully ride along the footpath.  There has not been evidence of 
widespread horse-use.  I have also explained the difficulty as regards winter 
woodland-management work.  Not checked recently but path has probably 
improved by now”.  

 

8.11 In the file are “Before and after photographs”, showing work done on MBL/13 at 
the Bismore Bridge end.  The ‘after’ photographs, dated 12 April 1999 show a 
green sign, facing path users, which states:    

Glos County Council  
Public Footpath only  
No horses or motorcycles 

The sign is of the same pattern and has the same wording as the sign noted on 24 
April 2013 at this end of the path. However, comparison of photographs shows 
that it is in a slightly different position.  

 
8.12 Customer complaint monitoring log, received 17/18 November 1999 notes a 

complaint from a member of the public that “Footpath is being churned up by 
horseriders.  Landowner is giving riders, including royalty, permission.  GCC has 
erected no riding signs in past”.  In “action” section, it has been noted that the 
complainant rang again “problem is resolved- landowner has installed no riding 
signs”.  
 

8.13 To summarise, on 15 December 1995 it was noted by GCC that there was some 
slight use by horses and to stop such use increasing we agreed with the 
landowner to erect ‘no horses’ signs.  On 4 October 1996 contractors were 
instructed to erect “Public Footpath Only- No Horses or Motorcycles” signs at 
Keepers Cottage and Bismore Bridge.  The file notes “following remedial work in 
1996 and to safeguard the repaired surface, we subsequently erected the ‘No 
horses or motorcycles’ signs with the agreement of the woodland owner”.  The 
County Council files indicate that in October 1997 “our signs were undamaged and 
correctly aligned”.  A member of the public noted on 18 March 1999 that “there’s a 
fine sign erected by the GCC stating ‘No riding’”.  Photographs taken on 12 April 
1999 show a green sign at Bismore Bridge, which stated:  Glos County Council 
Public Footpath Only No horses or motorcycles”.   

 

8.14 There are several references that imply that use by horses was with the 
permission of the then-landowner Mr Young.  On 3 February 1997 it was noted by 
the GCC officer that Mr Young, who owned the woods, generally allowed horse-

Page 7



 

riders to use many of the tracks, and some riders had used the claimed route  
“however, this use appears to be permissive and not as of right”.  On 20 October 
1997 it was decided against erecting barriers at each end of MBL/13 “as there may 
still be a small degree of horse use [by] landowners and people with their 
permission”.  A member of the public complaining about the surface of MBL/13 on 
17/18 November 1999 stated that “landowner is giving riders, including royalty, 
permission [to ride the claimed route]”.  

 

8.15 Charlotte Hart from Brimscombe was sent an application pack to upgrade 
footpaths to bridleways in Toadsmoor Woods on 21 July 2008.  A file note records 
that the reason for the application was that stiles had been put up since June / July 
2008 preventing horses using the route.  Before that there was only a log that 
horses could step over next to the locked gate.  

 

8.16 Mrs Sharon Hill of Sycamores, Bussage complained on 23 July 2008 about the 
new owners of Toadsmoor Woods putting stiles up where she and others had 
been riding with others for 30 years.  It was noted by the Public Rights of Way 
section that this particular path was not on the Definitive Map and was a 
permissive path under the former owners.  Mrs Hill was sent an application pack 
on 1 August 2008. 

 

8.17 Flavia Cooper wrote on 29 July 2008 stating “I discovered at the weekend that we 
could not ride the track through Toadsmoor because of the smart new stiles…is 
there anything that can be done about this?  (I know last time we all complained 
about the height, they were lowered for to make it easier for the horses to step 
over!)”.  

 

8.18 Charlotte Hart requested 12 additional public path evidence forms, which were 
sent on 11 March 2009. 

 

8.19 An application pack was given to Vicky Portman on 7 July 2010 so that she might 
make a claim, who then proceeded to make an application.  

 
 
9. APPLICATION 

9.1 An application was made on 23 July 2010 by Vicki Portman of Boundary Cottage, 
Back Edge Lane, Edge, Gloucestershire.  Notice was served on three affected 
landowners identified by the applicant, namely Mrs C Kane of Woodside, 
Toadsmoor, Brimscombe, Stroud, Mrs P Godsell of Keepers Cottage, Toadsmoor, 
and the owner / occupier of Lakeside, Toadsmoor. 

 
9.2 The applicant drew the County Council’s attention to the 1923 Ordnance Survey 

map, upon which the claimed way is shown as a bridleway.  A copy was supplied 
by the applicant.  In total, 17 public path evidence forms were submitted in support 
of the application by horse riders who had used the claimed route.  
 

9.3 The evidence forms submitted in support of the application are summarised at 
appendix 1C. 
 

Page 8



 

 
10. LANDOWNERS’ EVIDENCE 

10.1  Patricia Godsell, Keeper’s Cottage, Toadsmoor, Brimscombe 
Mrs Godsell wrote on 29 July 2010 in response to the service of notice by the 
applicant.  She stated that she personally strongly objected to the proposal, but 
pointed out that Toadsmoor Woods now belonged to Mrs Constance Kaine of 
Woodside, Toadsmoor. 
 
She noted that the path was used extensively by walkers, and that its surface was 
dry and smooth.  She pointed out that in the past “when it was listed unofficially as 
a bridleway many young untrained and ill-disciplined riders regularly galloped 
along it.  Even when asked politely to slow down, particularly when going through 
my garden, or interfering with the syndicate who fish on my lake, the reply often 
consisted of a stream of foul language and a refusal to do so- and in confirmation 
of this I can produce a number of witnesses.  As you can imagine, such behaviour 
is not only most unpleasant to deal with, but galloping along this popular path, part 
of which passes the lake, is extremely dangerous for the many people who come 
to enjoy it. 
 
Furthermore a considerable amount of damage is done to the surface of the path 
by the horses’ hooves, even with controlled riding, particularly in the autumn and 
winter when it can be muddy.  The holes that are caused by the horses make the 
path almost impassable for any walkers…. 
 
As the first section of the lane, from the ford to my house, Keeper’s Cottage, is my 
only access used by myself, my visitors and all deliveries I am responsible for its 
upkeep and for the cost of it….”  

 
10.2 Constance Kaine, Woodside, Middle Lypiatt, Stroud  

Mrs Kaine wrote on 31 July 2010, stating that she, along with her husband 
Laurence Hammans, was the owner of Toadsmoor Woods, including the section 
of the claimed path from the junction between paths MBL/11 and MBL/13 and the 
junction with MBL/65 at Bismore Bridge.  She stated that “We are engaged in 
caring responsibly for Toadsmoor Woods, maintaining its walk-only status, aided 
by a professional manager and grant-aided by the Forestry Commission…  We 
have the full support of the local community, with whom we liaise continually, and 
who now walk safely on the unchurned-up tracks, free of horses (and, for that 
matter, motorbikes)…. Jacqui Harris of the Rights of Way Team has been very 
helpful in providing signage and directives for our woods….”  
 
She wrote again on 24 October 2014, in response to consultations:  “…I have 
owned my cottage for 45 years, and although I have very occasionally seen a 
horse and rider in the woods…we have never seen much evidence of horse riding 
along the footpath MBL 13, except for the occasional (illegal) hoofmark.  I say 
“illegal” because the signs erected by you clearly mark this footpath as “No 
bridleway”. 
 
These woods and paths are much used by local walkers and their dogs, and 
although this may have no bearing on this case, I have spent quite some money 

Page 9



 

on keeping the paths in the woods in good order for walkers and for our 
woodsman, Simon Gardiner, to do his work maintaining the woodland.  I have also 
had to spend money on maintaining the access to our cottage for our own car and 
other vehicles which need access- the postman and, in an emergency, an 
ambulance….”  

 
10.3 Simon Gardiner, 37 Gloucester Road, Stonehouse  

Simon Gardiner wrote on 6 November 2014 as the co-owner and woodland 
manager of Toadsmoor Wood.   He stated that he had “been managing this 
woodland since 2008 and during this time period I and work colleagues have not 
witnessed horse riders using the woodland…”  He objected to the application on 
the grounds of the damage it would cause to woodland paths, that horse use 
would conflict with the heavy machinery used in timber extraction and with a 
regular shoot that takes place in the woods.  He also stated that “This is a public 
footpath and the public who regularly use this footpath have expressed concerns 
about horse riders potentially riding along this path when in use by them.  The 
path is not wide with an adjacent stream resulting in limited space for a person to 
allow for a horse to pass safely…”  

 
10.4 Jennifer Bricogne (née Godsell), Keeper’s Cottage, Toadsmoor 

Mrs Bricogne wrote on 23 October 2014 re-stating her objection to the application 
made by her mother Mrs P M Godsell, on 29 July 2010: 
 
“…The footpaths under consideration are MBL 11 which starts at point A, which is 
from the ford and the concrete bridge to point B, which is the start of the lake road; 
and MBL 13 which starts at point B, which is the start of the lake road to point C, 
which is the end of the footpath at Bismore Bridge.  This footpath goes along an 
unsurfaced gravel road which is the sole access to our house, Keeper’s Cottage, 
Toadsmoor, and continues as a path bisecting our property, going as it does 
between our house and our garden.  Living on top of this footpath for the last 35 
years we have been acutely aware of exactly what and who passes along it.  As 
we have maintained the access road along the lake for the entire time we have 
lived at Toadsmoor and as we have walked along the footpath from the ford to 
Bismore Bridge throughout the years with our dogs. We know precisely what 
activity occurs on this footpath. 
 
As you will see from the photographs attached to this letter there are four signs 
which have been put up by the Gloucestershire County Council which are located 
at point A, point B and point C, being the beginning of each segment of the 
footpaths under discussion.  There is also a large green sign stating “Glos County 
Council, Public Footpath only, No horses or motorcycles” that was erected on the 
edge of our property.  The Council will know exactly how long these signs have 
been up but from my knowledge it is at least 10 years.  Although there were riders 
and horses who in the distant past did ride along the footpath and in the private 
woods (often without the owner’s permission) since the County Council signs have 
been put up there have been no riders going past.  On the rare occasions when 
someone did break the law, they were stopped and the signs were pointed out to 
them and these people did not return.  Further proof of this is the absence of any 
horse shoe marks on the paths and the accessibility of the paths to walkers.  Many 
years ago the paths were virtually unpassable because they had been so churned 

Page 10



 

up by the horses.  This has changed completely in the past 10 years with children, 
the elderly, dog walkers, and hikers using the footpaths with no hindrance.  I 
personally have not seen a horse or their hoofmarks on the road we maintain or 
on the footpath   
 

 
11. DOCUMENTARY EVIDENCE 

 The following sources have been examined by the County Archivist at 
Gloucestershire Archives to see whether this path is marked in any way and to 
establish its status.  The sources have then been checked by the Asset Data 
(PROW Definitive Map) Officer in the Definitive Map Unit. 

 
11.1  Bisley Inclosure Award, 1869 (Q/RI/22) 
  Official map with award.  Area inclosed: Area not stated. 'Nash End Common or 

Bisley Common, Oakridge Common including Bourn's Green, Nottingham Scrubs, 
Custom Scrubs, Dunkite Hill and all outlying pieces of common or waste', in Bisley, 
including allotment of some old inclosures. 
Map: of areas inclosed; names of some adjacent owners; names of gates at end of 
some commons.  Scale: 26.7 inches to 1 mile 

 Award: 1869 (original deposited 1870); gives schedule of owners awarded sums of 
money (stated) in lieu of allotments, with acreages and description of property 
(cottage and garden, Bell Inn, etc) and reference to tithe map in a few cases, 
tenure, parish or hamlet where owner lives; schedule of allotments made with 
particulars as above, references to numbers on map and on tithe map; schedule of 
persons liable to pay a rent charge (total £9) out of the allotments 'for the labouring 
poor'. 

 Map only shows those portions of Bisley parish that are being inclosed.  The area 
of interest is not obviously shown.   

 
11.2   Bisley and Stroud Tithe Map and Apportionment, 1841/2 (GDR/T1/28, Part 2). 
 Apportionment, 1841, whole parish, including Stroud (11,622 acres). Map, 1842, is 

divided into two parts: Bisley and Stroud, the boundary being the brook running 
through the Toadsmoor Valley.  The area of interest is shown on the Stroud 
section of the map.   

 
 Map is coloured to show land use, with arable fields edged in brown and pasture in 

green.  Watercourses are coloured blue and masonry buildings pink.  Roads are 
shown by brown colouring.  Route from Eastcombe to Ferris Court, which joins the 
claimed route at point D, is shown by two full lines and coloured brown.  It is 
labelled “From Bisley” where it crosses the brook.   

 
 Toadsmoor Woods, Toadsmoor Lake and the brook are shown as is Keepers 

Cottage (plot 722), but the claimed route is not shown.   
 
11.3 Plan of the Tithing of Upper Lyppiatt, Lower Lyppiatt and Steanbridge, 1819 

(P320 VE 1/10)  
 “Plan of the Tithings of Upper Lyppiatt, Lower Lyppiatt and Steanbridge” by 

Charles Baker of Paganhill.  Shows buildings in block plan, mills, canal, farms; 
fields numbered.  Land use shown by colouring, no key, but pasture by green, 

Page 11



 

woodland by green with tree symbols, arable by brown, farmyards and gardens by 
grey and farm buildings by red.  Scale 26.6 inches to 1 mile.  Valuation and rating 
map, presumably for poor relief, deposited by St Lawrence Church, Stroud.   

 A number of tracks and paths are shown in Toadsmoor Wood by brown colouring, 
including parts of the claimed route, from point B alongside “Toadsmoor Pool” to 
Keepers Cottage (plot 178) and also a section west from point D to the 
approximate position of Cutham’s Stile.  No indication is given as to status.  

 
11.4 Ordnance Survey 25": 1 mile, 1885 edition, sheet no Glos 50/1 
 Section A to B is shown by one solid and one pecked line, with a boundary feature 

at point B.  The section east to Keeper’s Cottage at point C is shown running along 
the bank of “Todsmoor Pond” mostly by double pecked lines, with the route shown 
continuing north through Toadsmoor Woods.  The section between Keeper’s 
Cottage (point C) to point D is shown by a mixture of double pecked and one 
pecked and one solid line.  No indication is given as to status for any part of the 
route.   

 
11.5 Ordnance Survey 25": 1 mile, 1902 edition, sheet no Glos 50/1 
 Features shown as on 1885 edition, although lake now named as “Toadsmoor 

Pond”.  No indication is given as to status. 
 
11.6 Ordnance Survey 25": 1 mile, 1923 edition, sheet no Glos 50/1 (1E)  

The 1923 edition shows similar features, except that the section between point B 
and Keeper’s Cottage (point C) and then east to point D at Bismore Bridge are 
both annotated “B.R.” (bridle road).  

 
11.7 Ordnance Survey 1: 2,500 map, National Grid series, 1973 (SO 8804)  
 This edition shows the whole route as one continuous feature, marked by a 

mixture of pecked and full lines.  The route between Keeper’s Cottage and 
Bismore Bridge is marked as “track”. 

 
11.8  Ordnance Survey 1” to 1 mile map, 1st edition, 1830, surveyed 1816 
 Area not presented clearly, but claimed route does not appear to be shown.  
 
11.9 Bryant, Map of Gloucestershire, 1824 
 Area not shown in detail, but claimed route does not appear to be shown.  
   

11.10 Inland Revenue, maps compiled under the Finance Act, 1910, based on 
Ordnance Survey 25": 1 mile, c.1902 edition, marked up by Inland Revenue 
c.1915, and reference books or files (D2428/3/50/1) 

 The section from point A to the physical barrier at B is shown outside property 
boundaries.  The rest of the route is shown within hereditament 1829.  The 
accompanying valuation book is not held for this parish, but is now available online 
(http://www.glos1909survey.org.uk/code/data.php?id=92175).  There is a £40.00 
reduction for public rights of way.   

   

11.11 Maps deposited with County Planning Officer under Rights of Way Act, 
1932 S1, 3 (C/CP/C1) 

 National Parks and Access to the Countryside Act, 1949 planning applications files 
(5 files).  Checked – not relevant  

Page 12



 

 
11.12 Parish Council file, Rights of Way Act, 1932. 
 P47a/PC1/1-5 – Parish Council minutes 1894 – 1976 (5 vols).  Not checked  
 
11.13 Duplicate copies of tithe or inclosure awards 
  P47/SD2/3/2 – Parish copy of Stroud tithe map 
  PC1812/142 – Modern hand drawing of Stroud tithe map 
 
11.14 Private estate maps: 
 P397/IN3/3 – Map of the District Chapelry of the Holy Trinity, Stroud, 1879.  

Features as tithe map, on which this map is based. 
 Nothing else appears relevant    
 
11.15 Footpath or highway diversion orders deposited with Clerk of the Peace 

(Q/SRh). 
 Q/SRh 1801C, 1855A, C & D, 1866D, 1876C and 1971/5 

Q/SR 1804A, 1809C, 1813B, 1855B and 1864D 
Q/SRh 1801/C/1 
Diversion of a highway and footway at Lypiatt, includes plan 
Q/SR 1804A 
Searched, nothing relevant to Bisley  
Q/SR 1809C 
Searched, nothing relevant to Bisley  
Q/SR 1813B 
Indictment for non repair of highway (Fostons Ash to the Gate, in the parish of 
Miserden)  
Q/SR 1855 B 
Justices certificate for stopping up (and diversion) of highway between Bussage 
and Toadsmoor  
Q/SR 1864D 
Justices certificate for diverting footway in tithing of Lower Lypiatt  
Q/SRh 1866D 
Plan of the Parish Roads set out under Inclosure  
Q/SRh 1876B 
Stopping up of footpath near the town of Bisley from Chantry Gate to Chantry 
Fields, joining another footpath from Bisley to Copsegrove 

  
 All checked, nothing relevant 
 
11.16 Plans of public schemes deposited with Clerk of Peace (Q/RUm). 
 Q/Rum 51, 56, 64, 65, 69, 74, 79, 133, 146, 442 and 443 
 Not checked 
 
11.17 District Council Clerk's correspondence. 
  DA35/113/1-5 – Highways Committee, 1901-18, 1921-59 (5 vols.) 
  DA35/333/1 – Highway repairs expenditure accounts for Bisley parish, 1895-6 (1 

vol.).  Not checked 
 
11.18 County Council Solicitor's correspondence. 
  K596/27/6 – Checked.  Not relevant 

Page 13



 

 
11.19 County Surveyor: papers relating to survey of footpaths under National 

Parks and Access to Countryside Act, 1949 (K687). 
  K687/1/11 – Draft submission.  A-D shown on 3 coloured maps. A-B probably 

uncoloured on version A, B to D coloured purple, but no other clues as to status, 
and there is no key to colouring on the map.  The route is not numbered.  Version 
B shows similar features, except that B to D is shown by a pecked blue line.  
Version C however shows B to D numbered 13 and the base map, based on the 
1923 OS, refers to the route as B.R.  A to B may be shown as part of the route 
numbered 11. 

 
  The accompanying hand-written statement states that the route B to D is a 

footpath, but in the particulars it is noted that it was “Submitted by PC shown as 
B.R. on Glos OS No.50 1924 Edition”.  A to B is part of route 11, is submitted as 
F.P. and noted as shown as such on the 1920s OS map. 

 
  K687/2/9/1 – Objections to Draft Map.  Checked, not relevant. 
 
  K687/3/17 – Provisional map.  A-B numbered as part of MBL 11, B-C as MBL 13. 
  
 K687/3/38 – Provisional submission.  A-B and B-C both claimed as F.P.s, and 

noted as agreed as such with the Parish Council, although B-C is still noted as 
being shown as a B.R. on the 1920s Ordnance Survey map.        

 
  
12.   CONSULTATIONS  
 
12.1 Bisley with Lypiatt Parish Council  

Mr Peter Morris, Clerk of Bisley Parish Council replied by e-mail dated 3 February 
2015:  “In response to your request for feedback from Bisley with Lypiatt Parish 
Council regarding the upgrade to footpaths MBL 11 (part) and MBL 13 to 
bridleways, Toadsmoor, the Parish Council has advised me to report that it has no 
evidence to support or oppose this request.”  

  
12.2 Stroud District Council 
 Mr J B Rachael, Legal Executive, at Stroud District Council was consulted by letter 

on 29 July 2014.  No reply was received, so a further letter asking for comments 
was sent on 26 January 2015.  He responded by e-mail dated 28 January 2015:  
“…When you sent your original consultation letter in July 2014 I did send it direct 
on to the District Councillor for that area and asked him to reply to you direct if he 
had any comments to make on the application.  As you have not received anything 
from him and neither have I, it must be the case that he has no comment to make 
and this can be taken as our official response.”    

 
12.3 County Councillor 

Councillor Jason Bullingham was consulted on 29 July 2014, and a reminder sent 
on 28 January 2015.  No response has been received.  

 
12.4 Ramblers’ Association 

Page 14



 

Penny Fernando of the Ramblers’ Association was consulted on 29 July 2014; as 
no response was received, a further letter asking for comments was sent on 26 
January 2015.  

 
12.5 British Horse Society  

Lois Eyre, County Access and Bridleways Officer for the British Horse Society, 
was consulted on 29 July 2014.  As no response was made, a further letter asking 
for comments was sent on 26 January 2015.  Lois Eyre responded by e-mail dated 
29 January 2015: “I haven’t commented on the application, in response to your 
early letter of 29 July 2014, because, other than being delighted at the thought of 
another possible upgrade or two edging the county upwards and nearer to the 
national average of bridleways and byways when expressed as a percentage of 
the PRoW network, I have no pertinent comment to make….”  

 
 
13. APPLICANT  

 
The applicant Vicki Portman was sent a summary of the landowners’ comments 
and also a summary of the notes taken from the County Council area officer’s file 
for the two paths on 14 May 2015.  

She made the following comments: 

Surface etc 

Firstly the surface has indeed, like most routes, become much drier over the past 
two decades or more. This reflects the changes in our climate and proves the 
effectiveness of signage in discouraging the public from exercising their rights. 
Most riders were naturally put off riding there after signs were in place, which is 
why the user evidence is generally from earlier. Some more confident souls did 
however continue their enjoyment of this important off road link, but responsible 
riders refrain from using any route prone to cutting up in wet conditions, for the 
sake of the horse as well as the path. In dry conditions hoofmarks wouldn't be 
visible, but that doesn't mean no users.  Overhanging trees were always a factor 
on the route, ponies' riders were better off, but occasionally riders of tall horses 
dismounted to go under. 

Status etc 

Secondly I would like to point to the file notes at the bottom of page 1 in your 
summary of evidence, which state that the PC was in fact unsure of the status of 
this route. I wonder why they didn't research its history rather than claim it as 
footpath. If that wasn't possible then surely, if in doubt, the highest level of public 
right of access should be claimed.  The route is clearly defined as bridle road in 
the documentary evidence supplied and has been well used by horseriders over 
my lifetime. The fast approaching 2026 cut-off for correcting mistakes like this on 
the definitive map is looming.  It is most alarming that arbitrary decisions by parish 
councils and a desire from some landowners to restrict access and from some 
walkers to have all paths sanitised or mud-free can prevent continued public 
access to a lovely bridleway. 

Page 15



 

This route has always had higher rights than footpath and was wrongly recorded 
on the Definitive Map. My application seeks only to correct the map and preserve 
public right of access so that horseriders can avoid the dangers of the alternative 
busy road. 

 

 
14.   OTHER OBSERVATIONS  
 
14.1 Peter and Mary Wormington, Westfield, Bussage 

 Wrote on 20 September 2010 to state that the path was barely walkable in the 
winter and would become completely unwalkable if also churned up by horses. 

 
14.2 Brian and Susan Branfoot, Little Orchard, Bismore, Eastcombe  

 Wrote on 12 September [2010] to say that it would serve no purpose for this 
narrow path to be rutted and ground up by horses and motorbikes. 

 
14.3 Mrs M Dolbear, Four Winds, Eastcombe 

Wrote on 22 September 2010 to oppose the application, stating that the path 
already gets muddy during wet weather and if it were cut up by the passage of 
horses and bicycles, it would become unusable for walkers.  

 
14.4 Mr K and Mrs P J McWilliam, Crows Nest, Eastcombe  
  Wrote on 13 August 2010 to oppose the application. They stated that the footpath 

in question is low lying, adjacent to the stream and prone to being wet and muddy 
for long periods, particularly in the winter.  They added that the path was 
nevertheless well used by local residents, walking groups and visitors throughout 
the year.  

 
14.5 Robert and Hazel Newbold, Brotherstones, Eastcombe  
  Wrote to object to the claim on 16 August 2010, complaining that it was unsuitable 

for horses as it was subject to flooding and could degenerate into an unwalkable 
track if it were used by horses. 

 
14.6 Mr R J and Mrs A Harding, Yew Tree Cottage, The Scrubs, Bisley  
  Wrote to object to the application on 20 August 2010, expressing concerns as to 

the effect that horses would have on the path’s surface. 
 
14.7 Pauline Edgington, Inglenook, Toadsmoor 

Mrs Edgington wrote on 18 August 2010 noting that the footpath was used daily by 
dog walkers, hikers, runner and families who come to enjoy the stream.  She 
noted the possible detrimental effects on the surface and for the safety of walkers 
if horses were allowed to use this way.  
 

14.8 Avril Dooley and Graham Brown, Bismore Farm, Eastcombe 
In an undated letter received 9 August 2010 they wrote:  “Our land joins this 
footpath all along the valley and we strongly oppose this application.  It is only in 
recent months that one or two people have persistently ignored the Footpath Only 
and No Horses sign and requests not to ride along this path.  It is used continually 
by people enjoying the woods, dog walkers and families with young children in 
pushchairs.  The path is very narrow in places and already the surface is being 

Page 16



 

damaged by the horses despite the dry weather and will cause much more of a 
problem in wet conditions.  This application is being made by somebody who does 
not live in the area and as the local residents including us who own horses never 
ride along this path we do not feel that this application should even be 
considered”.  

 
14.9 Sir Julian Horn-Smith, Woodview, Eastcombe  

Mr Horn-Smith wrote on 22 October 2014 wrote to object to the application, stating 
“I have lived in Eastcombe since 1984 and own Bismore Farm, adjacent to the 
footpaths in question.  I have never seen these footpaths used by horses in that 
time.  Also, I have never seen evidence of over use by horses.  It is used regularly 
and frequently by walkers.”  He also raised concerns about the effects on the 
surface of use by horses.  

 
14.10 Andrew and Julia Russell, Dower Cottage, Springhill, Eastington  

Mr Russell wrote on 21 October 2014, stating “My wife and I have worked in this 
area (Eastcombe / Bisley) for approximately 20 years, including Bismore Farm, 
which is adjacent to the footpath in question MBL 13.  During this time we have not 
seen, or heard anyone using the path as a bridleway and there is no evidence i.e. 
hoof prints etc to prove any different.  The path is heavily used by walkers and dog 
walkers…”  

 
14.11 Lady Horn-Smith, Woodview, Eastcombe 

She wrote on 21 October 2014 stating that “My family have lived in this area 
(Eastcombe), for over thirty years, and own the land (Bismore Farm), which is 
adjacent to footpath MBL 13.  Despite being a consent [sic] user of footpath MBL 
13 during this time, I have yet to witness anyone riding a horse(s) along it.”  

 
14.12 Richard Smith, Lakeside, Toadsmoor  

He wrote on 18 October 2014:  “As a resident of a house which directly overlooks 
the start of this footpath by horse riders.  It is, however, a narrow path in places 
which is very regularly used by dog walkers and families with children and I would 
consider any attempt to allow horses to use it to be dangerous…. I would strongly 
dispute the claims provided in the application letter.  I have discussed this with 
many other residents (some who have lived in the area for many decades) and 
none is aware of any regular use of this footpath by horses.  There seems to be no 
precedent here and I am not really sure what is the basis for such a claim.”  
 
Another letter, signed by Richard Smith, but purporting to be from “Residents, 
Workers and Regular Walkers” opposed the application and made the following 
points: 
History and Status 
According to the 1980 Highways Act….for a change in status it is necessary to 
prove “continuous use” by horses over the last 20 years.  This is most definitely 
not the case. 
The status of this Right of Way has been clear for many decades.  For at least the 
last 10 years, it has been clearly signposted in several places, with “No horses” 
signs”.  The attached list shows over 30 signatories who can confirm that there 
has been no regular use of this path by horses in recent memory.  The signatory 
list includes residents, people who work regularly in the woods and regular users 

Page 17



 

of the footpath.  We would welcome any visit to the path to confirm that there is no 
evidence (hoof marks etc) along the path, and in many place it would be physically 
impassable for a horse rider (see photographs). 
Reliability of Evidence  
Much of the public evidence provided with the application seems to indicate some 
confusion over the footpath under discussion.  The PRIVATE paths (which were 
never public rights of way) through Toadsmoor Woods… were used by horse-
riders during 1980s/1990s by permission of the landowner, but were closed to 
horses by addition of gates/stiles in the late 1990s.  These stiles and gates are 
mentioned in some evidence accounts for the MBL 13 application.  There are no 
gates or stiles on the paths MBL 11 or MBL 13 so any evidence of use of these 
other private tracks is moot [sic] to this application.   
 
Looking at the routes evidenced, this petition would appear to be largely a 
concerted effort by riders at a local livery to link together existing bridleways to 
form a convenient scenic riding route which was blocked when the private track 
through the woods was closed to horseriders…. [route marked is bridleway MCH 1 
/ MTH 46]  
 
We would also strongly contest any witness statements claiming to have ridden in 
the woods in the last 10-20 years.  As you will see from the comments and letters, 
we believe these claims to be false”….. 
 
The complainant also included a number of photographs which were captioned as 
follows: 
Sign at position A on the map.  Believed to have been present since late 1990s. 
The overhanging branches on the path at a height of about 6 foot, have been 
present for some years and would have prevented through horse riding. 
Sign at position B on the map [Glos County Council Public Footpath only No 
horses or motorcycles].  Believed to have been present since late 1990s.  
Public footpath sign at ford at the start of MBL 11.  Damaged this year by falling 
tree [sign reads “Public Footpath No Motor Vehicles.  Except residents, deliveries 
and authorised vehicles”]  
 
The attached petitions are headed “We the undersigned are not aware of any 
regular or significant use of footpath MPL 13 [sic] by horses and we believe that 
the proposed upgrade to footpath MPL 13 is both dangerous and highly 
undesirable for the majority of users of this right of way”  There are 43 signatories.  

 
14.13 Jacki German, 86 Horns Road, Stroud  

Jacki German made the following comments, by e-mail dated 28 June 2015.   
 
“As a user of the Toadsmoor valley bridleway I'd like to make some comments on 
the 'consultation', which Vicki Portman, the DMMO applicant, has passed on to 
me. 
 
It seems you have omitted the historical research you usually carry out so 
thoroughly.  Will this be sent to Vicki later or presented to the Commons and RoW 
Committee? I would be interested to see its history if you would be so kind as to 
send it to me too. 

Page 18



 

 
Some of the landowners' comments perhaps arise from misunderstanding. I would 
like to refute those that suggest: 
(a) horseriders galloped along the route 
(b) local livery yard riders want to create a convenient scenic riding route 
(c) the path has not been used by horses in recent memory 
 
(a)  It is highly unlikely that any rider would gallop this route as it is stony and 

overhung with low branches in places. The valley does tend to act as an echo 
chamber. When trotting along by the stream I was aware of the hoofbeats 
sounding overloud, perhaps with more than one horse this might explain Mrs 
Godsell's impression of speed, or perhaps someone lost full control, as  
happened to me on one occasion when my mount was frightened by a bicycle 
approaching silently from behind. (I have seen several cyclists using the route, 
obviously they were also aware of its correct status). Perhaps Mrs Godsell 
was referring to the hunt followers using the route, as I have been told they 
have a reputation for using less than the Queen's English when asked to slow 
down. 

 
(b) There is no question of 'creation' of a bridleway, just 'correction' of a past 

mistake on the Definitive Map. Local riders are not plotting to add a 
'convenient' or 'scenic' route, they merely wish to exercise their right to travel 
here as they used to. I've ridden this route to avoid the Vatch Toadsmoor 
Road (which hugely increased its volume of traffic with the development of 
Manor Farm housing estate) since my childhood. I believe it has always been 
a bridleway and no-one knew it had been recorded as a footpath until the 
signs were placed there in the late 1990's. We need to correct such anomalies 
before 2026! 

 
(c)  Though many people responded to the signs I continued to ride there regularly 

and have some of the dates recorded in my diary between 2006 and 2011. At 
least once I explained the situation of incorrect recording to someone at 
Keeper's Cottage and to the new resident at the house beside the ford, 
presumably Richard Smith. I have regularly met walkers on the route, all of 
whom seemed happy at the presence of a horse, polite and often chatty, 
calling their dogs to heel, letting their children pat the horse etc. Most were 
wearing suitable footwear and clearly were able to traverse the less well-
drained parts of the route. 

 
It is regrettable that local landowners and their 43 signatories aren't willing to share 
the path and acknowledge the rights of other users. I do hope this does not result 
in the expense and hassle of a future Public Inquiry. If it does I would be willing to 
re-read my diaries and give evidence accordingly.”  
 

 
15.   LEGAL COMMENTS AND CONCLUSIONS 
 
15.1 Section 53(3)(c)(ii) of the Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981 allows for ways 

presently shown on the Definitive Map and Statement as a footpath, but which 
enjoy a right to lead or ride a horse, to be upgraded to a bridleway. 

Page 19



 

 
15.2 Section 31(1) of the Highways Act 1980 states that where a way over any land, 

other than a way of such character that use of it by the public could not give rise at 
common law to any presumption of dedication, has been actually enjoyed by the 
public as of right and without interruption for a full period of 20 years, the way is 
deemed to have been dedicated as a highway unless there is sufficient evidence 
that there was no intention during that period to dedicate it.  Section 31(2) states 
that the period of 20 years in sub-section (1) is to be calculated retrospectively 
from the date when the right of the public is brought into question whether by a 
notice or otherwise.  The twenty years usage must furthermore be “without 
interruption” and the requirements of Section 31 will not be met if “there is 
sufficient evidence that there was no intention during that period to dedicate it”.  

 
15.3 Before making an order, the surveying authority must be satisfied that the 

evidence discovered by the Council, when considered with all other relevant 
evidence available, shows that, on the balance of probabilities, the Definitive Map 
and Statement require modification because a right of way which is not shown on 
the Map and Statement subsists, or is reasonably alleged to subsist.   

 
15.4 Section 31(9) of the Highways Act 1980 says that nothing in this section operates 

to prevent the dedication of a way as a highway being presumed on proof of user 
for any less period than 20 years.  If there is no presumption of dedication under 
Section 31 of the 1980 Act, then we will also consider whether the evidence is 
such as to establish, again on a balance of probabilities, dedication at Common 
Law.   

 
15.5 We now need to consider whether there has been a full 20 years use by the public 

and, in order to do this, we have to ascertain whether there has been an overt act 
on the part of the landowner to bring it home to users that their right is being 
challenged. The 20 years use, for the purposes of Section 31, is to be dated 
retrospectively from this date of challenge (s.31(2)).   
 

15.6 There is no fixed method by which the public’s right is brought into question, 
though one (the erection of a notice) is expressly referred to in Section 31(3). The 
House of Lords in R (on the application of Godmanchester and Drain) v SSEFRA 
[2007] is the most recent case addressing the meaning of s.31(2) as to what act or 
acts constitute “bringing into question”.  Godmanchester endorses earlier 
judgments in this regard.   

 
15.7 The words “or otherwise” in Section 31 (2) leave the matter at large. In R v SSETR 

ex parte Dorset County Council 1999 Dyson J stated that the challenge had to be 
communicated to the user and that the test to be applied is that set out by Lord 
Denning in Fairey v Southampton CC (1956). Denning said “In order for the right 
of the public to have been brought into question, the landowner must challenge it 
by some means sufficient to bring it home to the public that he is challenging their 
right to use the way, so that they may be apprised of the challenge and have a 
reasonable opportunity of meeting it”.  

 
15.8 The methods by which the public’s right to use the way might be brought into 

question could include: the locking of a gate; putting up a notice denying the 

Page 20



 

existence of a right of way; seeking a declaration that there is no highway over the 
land in question or physically preventing a walker from proceeding along a path. 
“Whatever means are employed… they must be sufficient at least to make it likely 
that some of the users are made aware that the owner has challenged their right to 
use the way as a highway... The persons to whom the challenge has to be brought 
home are the users of the way”. (Lord Dyson in R v Secretary of State for the 
Environment, Transport and the Regions ex parte Dorset CC (1999). 

 
15.9 It is not necessary for it to be the landowner who brings into question the right of 

the public to use the way. The date of calling into question is simply the date 
when, as the result of some action, the public’s entitlement to use the way was put 
in issue. There are no words in Section 31(2) of the 1980 Highways Act confining 
this action to be by or on behalf of the landowner. It simply sets the date from “... 
when the right of the public to use the way is brought into question”. This view is 
confirmed by Applegarth v Secretary of State for the Environment, Transport and 
the Regions (2001) in which it was stated that anybody with an interest could bring 
into question the right of people to use the path and this needn’t necessarily be the 
landowner. The burden lies on whoever needs to rebut the presumption to show 
that the owner of the path had not intended to dedicate the path as a public 
highway. Whilst in practical terms, the bringing into question will be by or on behalf 
of the landowner, it does not have to be so.  

 
15.10 There is clear evidence from the County Council’s public rights of way files that 

signs stating “Public Footpath Only- No Horses or Motorcycles” were erected at 
points C and D (by Keepers Cottage and by Bismore Bridge) in October 1996, and 
that they were still in position in October 1997 and April 1999.  These signs were 
also still in position on 24 April 2013, although the sign at point D appears to have 
been re-erected on to a different post.    
 

15.11 Under s.263(1) of the 1980 Highways Act, “every highway maintainable at the 
public expense, together with the materials and scrapings thereof, vests in the 
highway authority who are for the time being the highway authority for the highway 
itself”.  The highway authority’s interest in the land is a limited interest for a 
specific purpose- the protection and maintenance of the highway in the highway 
authority.   
 

15.12 The question arises as to whether the interest vested in the authority by the Act 
is of sufficient extent to enable it effectively to prevent a presumption of dedication 
arising by erecting notices along the line of the way reading “Public Footpath Only- 
No Horses or Motorcycles”.  It would seem that since the contrary intention 
required to rebut the presumption of dedication based on long user must be that of 
the landowner in the sense of the owner of the land across which the way passes, 
such notices erected by an authority do not have the effect of ousting the 
presumption of dedication that occurs after 20 years us, unless the lack of 
intention to the notice by the landowner was taken as sufficient indication by him 
that he had no intention to dedicate the way as carrying a higher right.  The 
County Council consulted with the owner of the land, Mr Young, of Meadow 
Cottage, in October 1996 before erecting the signs.  The instruction to the 
contractors, dated 4 October 1996 includes a note: “Owner of woods Mr Young, 
Meadow Cottage, Middle Lypiatt- I have consulted him and he agrees with keeping 

Page 21



 

horses off this path”.  In a file note of 3 February 1997 Mr Young confirmed that as 
he might need vehicular access, ‘could we start off just with signs, not fixed 
barriers, and see if that solves the problem’.   
 

15.13 As the County Council has a vested interest in the surface of the track in law and 
it had the agreement in 1996 from the owner of land before putting up the signs, 
then it is submitted that the erection of signs in 1996 should be considered as the 
act that brought the right of the public to use the path as a bridleway into question, 
for the purposes of section 31 of the 1980 Highways Act.  If the challenge date is 
taken to be 1996, then the relevant period for the purpose of section 31(1) of the 
1980 Highways Act is 1976 to 1996.   
 

15.14 It is not essential for the path or way to have been used for the full period of 20 
years by the same persons; the period may accrue as a result of use by different 
persons for shorter periods.  Use by different persons, each for periods of less 
than 20 years, will suffice if, taken together, they total a continuous period of 20 
years or more (Davis v Whitby (1974) 1 All ER 806).  Nor does it matter that the 
use is not continuous in the sense that it may not have occurred everyday.   

 
15.15 Section 31(2) of the Highways Act states that the 20 years use must be without 

interruption. An “interruption” has been defined as “an actual and physical stopping 
of the public’s enjoyment” (Merstham Manor Ltd v Coulsdon and Purley UDC 
(1937) 2KB 77) as opposed to an act that merely challenges the public’s right. It is 
not a mere absence in the continuity of use. Moreover, such interruption must be 
with the intention to prevent public use.  None of the witnesses note any 
obstructions on the claimed bridleway, other than “natural obstructions” such as 
fallen trees.  
 

15.16 There are two witnesses (numbers 6 and 13) who have used the path for the full 
twenty years (1976 to 1996), one who has used the path for 19 years (number 14), 
two more who have used the path for 17 years and two have used the path for 16 
years.  A further witness (number 9) has used the path since the 1970s, so her 
use was for at least 15 years.  In total, there are 13 witnesses who have used the 
claimed route during the period 1976 to 1996.   
 

15.17 There is no statutory minimum level of user required to show sufficient use to 
raise a presumption of dedication. Use should have been by a sufficient number of 
people to show that it was use by ‘the public’ and this may vary from case to case. 
Often the quantity of user evidence is less important in meeting these sufficiency 
tests than the quality (i.e., its cogency, honesty, accuracy, credibility and 
consistency with other evidence, etc.)  
 

15.18 It was held in Mann v Brodie (1885) 10 App Cas 378 that the number of users 
must be such as might reasonably have been expected, if the way had been 
unquestionably a public highway. It is generally applicable that in remote areas the 
amount of use of a way may be less than a way in an urban area.  
 

15.19 R v SSETR (ex parte Dorset) [1999] accepted that, although the evidence within 
five user evidence forms was truthful, it was insufficient to satisfy the statutory test.  
The finding did not consider whether use by five witnesses would satisfy the test.  

Page 22



 

 
 

15.20 For long usage to give rise to a presumption of dedication, use must be without 
force, secrecy or permission.  If there is express permission to use a route then 
the use is not ‘as of right’.   
 

15.21 There are a number of statements made between 1997 and 1999 by County 
Council rights of way officers and by local members of the public that use of the 
claimed way by horse riders was with the permission of the then-landowner Mr 
Young.  On 3 February 1997 it was noted by the GCC officer that Mr Young, who 
owned the woods, generally allowed horse-riders to use many of the tracks, and 
some riders had used the claimed route  “however, this use appears to be 
permissive and not as of right”.  On 20 October 1997 it was decided against 
erecting barriers at each end of MBL/13 “as there may still be a small degree of 
horse use [by] landowners and people with their permission”.   A letter from a 
member of the public complaining about the surface of MBL/13, dated 18 March 
1999 has been annotated by the Rights of Way Officer:  “No. The landowner rides 
there and permits others to do so!  Main damage is caused by the timber 
contractors”.  There was a further complaint about the surface of MBL/13 on 17/18 
November 1999 in which the complainant stated that “landowner is giving riders, 
including royalty, permission [to ride the claimed route]”.  
 

15.22 However, the witnesses who have completed public path evidence forms have 
not indicated that their use of the claimed bridleway was with permission.  The one 
exception is witness 17, Jo Workman, who states that “Mrs Young (the late) said it 
could be ridden on horseback about 30 years ago” [c.1980]  It is unclear as to 
whether she was giving permission or simply stating that she believed it to carry a 
bridleway right.  Encouragement to use a way may not equate with permission.  
The only evidence that use was permissive is by third parties, rather than from the 
landowner or the users themselves.   
 

15.23 The fact that use of the claimed route by a few with permission does not 
necessarily prevent use by the public in general from being without permission 
(Beresford Trustees v Secretary of State for the Environment and Cumbria CC, 
1995) (unreported).   
 

15.24 We do not know whether Mr Young gave express permission to use the claimed 
route in the 1990s, or whether use on horseback was simply tolerated.  If there is 
express permission to use a route then the use is not ‘as of right’. The issue of 
implied permission, or toleration by the landowner, is more difficult. In the context 
of a call not to be too ready to allow tolerated trespasses to ripen into rights, Lord 
Hoffmann, Sunningwell 1999, held that toleration by the landowner of use of a way 
is not inconsistent with user as of right.  
 

15.25 In R (Beresford) v Sunderland CC [2003], Lord Bingham stated that a licence to 
use land could not be implied from mere inaction of a landowner with knowledge of 
the use to which his land was being put. Lord Scott stated in the Beresford case  
“I believe this rigid distinction between express permission and implied permission 
to be unacceptable. It is clear enough that merely standing by, with knowledge of 

Page 23



 

the use, and doing nothing about it, i.e., toleration or acquiescence, is consistent 
with the use being "as of right".”  
 
Encouragement to use a way may not equate with permission: As Lord Rodger put 
it, “the mere fact that a landowner encourages an activity on his land does not 
indicate ... that it takes place only by virtue of his revocable permission.”   In the 
same case, Lords Bingham and Walker gave some examples of conduct that 
might amount to permission, but the correct inference to be drawn will depend on 
any evidence of overt and contemporaneous acts that is presented.  

 
15.26 Any decision is made on the balance of probability that public rights subsist or 

are reasonably alleged to subsist. (R. v Secretary of State for the Environment, ex 
parte Bagshaw and Norton [1994] and R. v Secretary of State for Wales, ex parte 
Gordon Emery [1997]).  It is considered that the user evidence is sufficient to infer 
deemed dedication. 
 

15.27 Under Section 32 of the Highways Act 1980, when determining whether a way 
has or has not been dedicated as a highway, or the date on which such 
dedication, if any, took place, shall take into consideration any map, plan or history 
of the locality or other relevant document which is tendered in evidence, and shall 
give such weight thereto as the court or tribunal considers justified in the 
circumstances, including the antiquity of the tendered document, the status of the 
person by whom and the purpose for which it was made or compiled, and the 
custody in which it has been kept and from which it is produced.   

 
15.28 The claimed route is shown in its present position on the Ordnance Survey large 

scale plans of 1885, 1902 and 1923.  It is not shown on the earlier 1819 Tithing 
Map, the 1842 Tithe Map or the 1” to 1 mile Ordnance Survey map of 1830 or the 
Bryant map of 1824.  The Valuation Plan produced under the 1910 Finance Act 
shows section A to B as outside hereditament boundaries, which is evidence that it 
was a public highway, probably vehicular.  The information on the boundaries 
came from the owners and occupiers, and was checked by the valuers if there was 
any doubt.  Where a roadway was coloured out (as the track between points A and 
B was) a careful reading of the Act and Instructions to Valuers indicates that this 
was due to the owners’ expression that the roads were not theirs and that it was 
subject to the rights of the public.   Section B to D (from Keepers Cottage to 
Bismore Bridge) was viewed as a bridleway at the time of the 1920s Ordnance 
Survey map, and this information is included in the Definitive Statement for the 
path, but it was claimed as a public footpath by the Parish Council.   

 
15.29 Ordnance Survey maps carry a disclaimer that any representation of a road, 

track or path is no evidence of the existence of a right of way over it. However they 
do provide evidence of the physical existence and extent of a way, suggesting (but 
not proving) that the path has been in use for a longer period than that for which 
user evidence is available. Showing the way as a Bridle Road in 1923 is only 
evidence that it appeared to the surveyor for the Ordnance Survey that the way 
had the character of a bridleway or was being used as a bridleway; it is not 
evidence that it carried certain rights.  

 

Page 24



 

15.30 Having considered the evidence of use and taking the date of challenge as 1996, 
it is the recommendation of the officers that, on the balance of probabilities, an 
order be made to upgrade the footpaths MBL/11 (part) and MBL/13 to public 
bridleways.   
 

APPENDICES 
A, Location map, 1: 10,000 scale 
B. Plan showing claimed route, 1: 5,000  
C. Summary of user evidence 
D.  Table showing length of use over period 1977-1997  
E.  Ordnance Survey 25” to 1 mile, County Series map, 3rd edition, 1923 
F. Job Description and Costs issued by Ros John of Public Rights of Way, dated 4 

October 1996 
G. Map attached to job description, 1996   

 
 
 

 

Page 25



Page 26

This page is intentionally left blank



Page 27



Page 28

This page is intentionally left blank



Page 29



Page 30

This page is intentionally left blank



Witness 

Number  

Name Period of 

time 

covered 

1976-1996 

1 Kate Biggs Approx 10 
years ago 
[1993-2003] 

3 years  

2 Claire Biggs 1989 to 2003 7 years  

3 Nicola Coombs 1980 to 2010 16 years  

4 Flavia Cooper 1990 to 2008 6 years  

5 Sarah Ellis 1988 to 95/ 
1996 to 2008 

8 years  

6 Jacky German Early 
seventies to 
present day 

20 years  

7 Sarah Gubby 1980 to 2010 16 years  

8 Rowenna Hills Past 8 years 
[2002-2010] 

---- 

9 Anne Hogg 1970s to 1995 
(approx) 

at least 15 
years   

10 Jane E Jones 2000 to 2007 ----- 

11 Andrea Nelson 2005 to 2010 ----- 

12 Annie Parfitt 1980 to 1990 9 years  

13 Mrs V Portman Since 1975 20 years  

14 Heather 
Silverthorne 

1975 to 1995 19 years  

15 Safaya Sutton 1998 to 2010 ----- 

16 Rachel Sutton 1980 - 2010 16 years 

17 Jo Workman 1979 to 2008 17 years  

 

   

 

 

   

 

 

Page 31



Page 32

This page is intentionally left blank



No Name Address of 

Witness

Period of time 

covered

Total 

Years

Frequency 

of Use             

(per year)

Purpose of Use Other Remarks Comments (by Director of 

Environment)

1 Kate Biggs 35 Lower Street, 

Stroud

Approx 10 years 

ago

10 10 plus From Horns Farm, 

Stroud through 

Mackhorse Woods to 

Lypiatt 

Width given as 10ft decreasing to 

approx 5 ft. I believe there are now 

notices saying 'private'.Person living 

in Keepers Cottage told me not to use 

as a bridleway 

Map completed by witness shows same 

position as claimed by applicant 

2 Claire Biggs 14 Sibree Close, 

Bussage

1989 to 2003 14 20 average 89 

to 03, average 

1, 95 to 03

Circular rides from 

Thrupp, Stroud or 

Bussage

Width of path given as 3 to 4m. Fallen 

tree between Keepers Cott and 

Cuthamstile which was removed 

promptly

Map completed by witness shows same 

position as claimed by applicant 

3 Nicola 

Coombs

21 Middle Street, 

Stroud

1980 to 2010 30 52 Hacking and walking 

dogs

Width of path given as 3 to 4m. 

Notices recently saying something like 

footpath

Map completed by witness shows same 

position as claimed by applicant 

4 Flavia 

Cooper

5 Squires Close, 

Bussage

1990 to 2008 18 About once a 

fortnight

Vatch Lane to 

Eastcombe or Ferris 

Court Farm

Width of path given as vehicle. Low 

stiles (to stop motorbikes) at 

Woodside Keepers Cottage & MBL65. 

Horses can step over safely not too 

high. Locked gates next to low stiles

Map completed by witness shows different 

route to applicant (tracks not on definitive 

map)

5 Sarah Ellis 58 The Old 

Common, Bussage

1988 to 95/ 

1996 to 2008

19 12 to 24 Stables at Middle 

Lypiatt down 

bridleway 

MTH46/MCH1 , 

through woods to RB 

at Bismore Bridge

Width of path given as 2 to 3m. Small 

logs put at points in 2006 (not on 

claimed route) but only to deter 

motorbikes. Changed to stiles in 

2008. Gates but logs alongside. 

Gates difficult to open but can’t 

remember if locked. Notices No 

Motorbikes/vehicles, then "Public 

Footpath only - no cycles/horses 

which went up end of 2007 beginning 

of 2008 - marked on map. Paths used 

by many riders and cyclists. Ground 

not that bad and no conflicts to 

knowledge between users.

Map completed by witness shows same 

position as claimed by applicant  plus extra 

routes and track

MODIFICATION ORDER APPLICATION TO UPGRADE FOOTPATHS MPL11 AND MPL13 TO BRIDLEWAYS TOADSMOOR WOOD, BISLEY AND 

SUMMARY OF PUBLIC PATH EVIDENCE FORMS SUBMITTED IN 2010

Page 1 of 3

P
a
g
e
 3

3



No Name Address of 

Witness

Period of time 

covered

Total 

Years

Frequency 

of Use             

(per year)

Purpose of Use Other Remarks Comments (by Director of 

Environment)

6 Jacky 

German

86 Horns Road, 

Stroud

Early seventies 

to present day

35 

approx

1970s once or 

twice, 1980s 4 

to 100, 1990s 

onwards 12 to 

15

Minchinhampton 

common to 

Eastcombe & back/ 

Franch Lynch, 

Chalford Hill or 

Bussage to 

Toadsmoor Woods & 

back/ Bismore circular 

rides/Lypiatt circular 

rides

Width of path given as 3m - wider in 

Winter. In recent years footpath signs 

from County Council. Occasional 

fallen branches. June 30th 2010 

whilst riding on MBL65 a woman 

shouted from Bismore Bridge that 

horse riders cannot use MBL13. Told 

by another woman that the new 

landowner does not like horse riders 

in the woods. I assumed she meant 

the route North which have recently 

been gated (I believe these should 

also be bridleway status)

Map completed by witness shows same 

position as claimed by applicant 

7 Sarah Gubby 54 Yeovil Road, 

Sandhurst , 

Berkshire

1980 to 2010 30 52 Hacking and walking Width of path given as 3 to 4m. 

Notices recently by ford and bridge 

something like footpath only.

Map completed by witness shows same 

position as claimed by applicant 

8 Rowenna 

Hills

17 Lilliesfield 

Avenue, Barnwood

Past 8 years 8 4 to 5 Horns Livery as a 

round trip

Width of path given as 3 horses. 

Notices recently footpath each end.

Map completed by witness shows same 

position as claimed by applicant 

9 Anne Hogg Alma Cottages,61 

Lower Street, 

Stroud

1970s to 1995 

(approx)

Approx 

40 - 50 

years

Approx 4 in 

60s and 5 in 

70s and 80s

Recreational 

horseback from Home 

Farm to Toadsmoor 

Lake and to home 

again

Width of path given as 3m. Never 

stopped. The hunt used to use the 

woods

Map completed by witness shows same 

position as claimed by applicant 

10 Jane E 

Jones

Meadow Cottage. 

Througham, Stroud

2000 to 2007 7 2 -4 times a 

month

Circular rides from 

Trougham Stancombe 

& Horns Farm

Width of path given as 3m. Told by 

livery yards at Stancombe and Horns 

Farm that these were regularly used 

as bridle paths

Map completed by witness shows same 

position as claimed by applicant 

11 Andrea 

Nelson

The Arches, Wood 

End Lane, 

Nailsworth

2005 to 2010 5 weekly Toadsmoor Lake to 

Ferris Court

Width of path given as 3 to 

4m.Notices recently only - Footpath - 

at each end of path

Map completed by witness shows same 

position as claimed by applicant 

12 Annie Parfitt Ardmore, Bourne 

Lane, Brimscombe

1980 to 1990 10 60 Exercise my horse Width of path given as 2 to 4m. 

Notices recently saying footpath

Map completed by witness shows same 

position as claimed by applicant 

13 Mrs V 

Portman

Boundary Cottage, 

Back Edge Lane, 

GL6 6PE

Since 1975 35 100 1975 to 

1989, 20 -50 

since

Horseback Thrupp 

Ferris Court to 

Eastcome/or return

Width of path variable between  8 - 16 

ft. Notices recently either end  - 

footpath/ - erected by County Council. 

Occasional fallen trees removed. 

Recently informed that new owners 

did not want it used by horses

Map completed by witness shows same 

position as claimed by applicant 

Page 2 of 3

P
a
g
e
 3

4



No Name Address of 

Witness

Period of time 

covered

Total 

Years

Frequency 

of Use             

(per year)

Purpose of Use Other Remarks Comments (by Director of 

Environment)

14 Heather 

Silverthorne

57 Horns Road, 

Stroud

1975 to 1995 20 12 plus Horseback from Horns 

Farm, Stroud through 

Mockhouse Woods to 

Lypiatt

Width of path given as 3 to 4m. Lady 

from Keepers Cottage told me not to 

ride as it was not a bridleway

Map completed by witness shows same 

position as claimed by applicant 

15 Safaya 

Sutton

Quarryhill Lodge, 

Thrupp Lane, 

Thrupp

1998 to 2010 12 52 Ferris Court Lane to 

Toadsmoor

Width of path given as 3 to 4m. 

Notices last year or two at end, 

Footpath.

Map completed by witness shows same 

position as claimed by applicant 

16 Rachel 

Sutton

Quarryhill Lodge, 

Thrupp Lane, 

Thrupp

1980 - 2010 30 52 Toadsmoor Lake to 

Ferris Court

Width of path given as 3 to 4m. 

Notices recently at end, Footpath 

only?

Map completed by witness shows same 

position as claimed by applicant 

17 Jo Workman Hillside, Brownshill, 

Stroud

1979 to 2008 29 3 times a 

week

Bussage - Eastcombe 

- Lypiatt

Width of path given as 5 to 6 ft. Mrs 

Young (the late) said it could be 

ridden on horseback about 30 years 

ago.

Map completed by witness shows same 

position as claimed by applicant  plus extra 

routes and track

Page 3 of 3

P
a
g
e
 3

5



P
a
g
e
 3

6

T
h

is
 p

a
g

e
 is

 in
te

n
tio

n
a
lly

 le
ft b

la
n
k



Page 37



Page 38

This page is intentionally left blank



Page 39



Page 40

This page is intentionally left blank



Page 41



Page 42

This page is intentionally left blank



 

COMMONS AND RIGHTS OF WAY COMMITTEE 
29 SEPTEMBER 2015  

 
AGENDA ITEM:  2  

 
 

APPLICATION FOR A DEFINITIVE MAP MODIFICATION ORDER  
TO UPGRADE PUBLIC FOOTPATH DLH/9 TO A BRIDLEWAY 

MAY HILL, PARISH OF LONGHOPE 
 

REPORT FOR COMMISSIONING DIRECTOR  
FOR COMMUNITIES & INFRASTRUCTURE  

 
 
1. PURPOSE OF REPORT 
 

To consider the following application: 
 
Nature of Application:  Reclassify Footpath DLH/9 to a 

Bridleway 

Parish:      Longhope 

Name of Applicants:  Jan James and Helen Hail  

Date of Application:  22 March 2007  

 
2. RECOMMENDATIONS 
 

(a) that an order be made to reclassify the section of footpath DLH/9 from Folly 
Lane to the summit of May Hill to a bridleway (section A to E on map B); and  

(b) that an order be made to reclassify the section of footpath DLH/9 from the 
summit of May Hill north to the boundary with Aston Ingham parish to a 
restricted byway (section E to F)   

   
3. RESOURCE IMPLICATIONS 
 
  Cost of advertising Order in the local press, which has to be done twice, is 

approximately £500 per notice. 
 In addition, the County Council is responsible for meeting the costs of any Public 

Inquiry associated with the application. 
  
4. SUSTAINABILITY & EQUALITY IMPLICATIONS 
 
 No sustainability or equality implications have been identified.  
 
5. STATUTORY AUTHORITY 
 
 Section 53 of the Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981 imposes a duty on the County 

Council, as surveying authority, to keep the Definitive Map and Statement under 
continuous review and to modify it in consequence of the occurrence of an ‘event’ 

Agenda Item 7

Page 43



 

specified in sub section [3].  Any person may make an application to the authority 
for a Definitive Map Modification Order on the occurrence of an ‘event’ under 
section 53 [3] [b] or [c].  The County Council is obliged to determine any such 
application that satisfies the required submission criteria in accordance with 
schedule 14 of the Act. 

 
6. DEPARTMENTAL CONTACT 
 
 Andrew Houldey, Asset Data Officer (PROW Definitive Map), Highway Records, 

Asset Data Team.  Telephone Gloucester (01452) 328984 
 E-mail: andrew.houldey@gloucestershire.gov.uk  
 
 
REPORT 
 
7. DESCRIPTION OF PATH 
 
7.1 A location map at scale 1: 10,000 is attached (numbered 2A) showing the position 

of the claimed path at May Hill in the parish of Longhope.  The way is shown on 
the Definitive Map as public footpath DLH/9.  The claimed path is approximately 
3¼ miles south-west of the town of Newent.  The area of interest lies within 
Ordnance Survey Grid Squares SO 6920 and 6921.  

 
7.2 A large-scale map showing the whole of the claimed route at 1: 4,500 scale is 

attached (numbered 2B).  This map shows the claimed path by a continuous red 
line between points A-B-C-D-E-F.  DLH/9 runs from a junction with bridleways 
DLH/49 and DLH/10 at the water tank by Bearfoot Cottage in a generally north-
westerly direction over the top of May Hill, passing the clump of trees at the 
summit and then continuing to the Herefordshire boundary, from which the way 
continues as a public footpath, although this path is subject to a separate 
bridleway application with Herefordshire Council.    

 
7.3 The claimed route was inspected on 9 January 2014.  The path was walked from 

east to west, from the junction with bridleway DLH/10 at Bearfoot Cottage, over 
the top of May Hill to the Herefordshire boundary, north of the summit.  

 
7.4 At point A there is a Gloucestershire County Council sign at the junction with 

bridleways DLH/49 and DLH/10 which reads “No Horses or Motor Vehicles Public 
Footpath only”. 

 
7.5 The route runs in a north-westerly direction from point A along a stoned track.  It is 

bounded on the northern side by a post and sheep wire fence surrounding 
Bearfoot Cottage.  60 metres west of point A, the path passes through a structure 
at point B, consisting of a wooden kissing gate, beside which is a wooden rail and 
a removable, metal, tube barrier to deter vehicles.  The tube barrier was padlocked 
at the time of inspection.  The metal tube can be unlocked and slid out to allow the 
passage of vehicles.   

 
7.6 Approximately 195 metres north-west of point B, the claimed route passes through 

another gate (at point C).  This is a padlocked metal field gate with a by-pass 

Page 44



 

metal kissing gate with wooden rail.  The gates at points B and C allow use by 
pedestrians but effectively bar horses and vehicles from using the way.  

 
7.7 Just to the west of the field gate at point C is a National Trust sign.  The National 

Trust Byelaws are printed on the reverse of the sign: 
 
 HORSE RIDING 

12(a)  No unauthorised persons shall ride a horse on any part of Trust Property 
where horse riding is prohibited by an authorised notice or where horse 
riding is likely to result in damage to Trust Property whether prohibited by 
notice or not.   

    (b)  No person shall ride a horse to the danger or annoyance of or without due 
consideration for other persons resorting to Trust Property 

 
7.8 The way continues across the summit of May Hill (at point D) as a clearly defined 

vehicular-width track defined by a shallow bank and ditch.  It is not enclosed by a 
hedge or other boundary feature.  The distance between points C and D is 
approximately 495 metres.  The way runs across the summit of May Hill (marked 
by a clump of trees) for a distance of 97 metres to point E and then continues in a 
generally north-north westerly direction for 500 metres to a wooden hand gate 
alongside a metal farm gate at point F.  The hand gate at point F is openable and 
capable of being used by horse riders to access the summit of May Hill.  The way 
continues into the parish of Aston Ingham and the county of Herefordshire as 
footpaths AG/18 and AG/20.  
 

7.9 The total length of the claimed path (A to F) is approximately 1,347 metres.  The 
width is approximately 3 metres throughout its length. 

 
 
8. BACKGROUND 

8.1 The application was precipitated by Gloucestershire County Council erecting 
barriers at points B and C in January / February 2006 to prevent vehicles 
accessing May Hill Common, which had the effect of preventing horses from riding 
across the top of May Hill.  The erection of new gates and vehicle barriers was 
part of a wider scheme in which drainage, surfacing and clearance work was 
undertaken on public footpaths DLH/8 and DLH/9.  
 

8.2 The new barriers replaced a locking single-pipe barrier that had been erected to 
deter vehicles, but which allowed access by horses alongside.  The previous 
barrier had been installed c.1986 with the intention of preventing unauthorised 
access to the hill, as prior to this time a new age community had set up an 
encampment close to the summit.  
 

8.3 May Hill Common is owned by National Trust, with the exception of the track over 
which the claimed path and a circular area 145 metres in diameter at the top of the 
hill, which is marked by a clump of trees.  This summit area is owned by Longhope 
Parish Council and is registered as a Village Green (VG 100).  The registration 
was made under the Commons Registration Act 1965 on 20 March 1969.  An 
objection was made to the initial registration on 15 June 1973, which sought to 

Page 45



 

exclude scheduled rights of way DLH/8 and DLH/9 from the area of land 
registered.  The modified entry became final on 27 June 1973. 
 

8.4 The area of May Hill Common which is in Herefordshire, and is to the north of 
point F, is registered as Common Land. 
 

8.5 The path continues northwards from point F over the parish and county boundary 
into Aston Ingham and Herefordshire, where it joins two public footpaths that 
continue in a north-westerly and north-easterly direction respectively.  The western 
route was the subject of a separate application to Herefordshire Council on 22 
March 2007, to upgrade footpath AG/18 (part) to bridleway and for an additional 
length of public bridleway but has not been determined.  The western route 
(footpath AG/20) was also subject to a separate application on the same date, to 
reclassify the route to a public bridleway.   The Herefordshire bridleway 
applications have not been determined.   
 

 
9. APPLICATION 

9.1 An application was made on 8 June 2006 by Jan James and Helen Hail of 
Yartleton Farm, Yartleton Lane, May Hill, Longhope to upgrade part of public 
footpath DLH/9 to a bridleway, from point A to the gate at point C.  Notice was 
served on the following landowners:  Mrs Torill Freeman of Home Farm, Huntley; 
Neil Addison of Yartleton House, May Hill; the National Trust, Severn Regional 
Office, Mythe End House, Tewkesbury; and Longhope Parish Council.  
 

9.2 The application was supported by 35 public path evidence forms, a copy of a map 
of part of the Huntley Estate, dating to 1884 and showing the claimed route, and a 
copy of a photograph dated to the 1930s, showing bracken collection on the hill.  
The applicants also stated that the way is clearly marked on the 1883 Inclosure 
map as “Ancient Public Road”.  This is in error, as the way thus shown on the 
Inclosure Map is the public road running around the western side of the hill.   
 

9.3 The applicants were told that the effect of this application would be to create a cul 
de sac bridleway, and they were advised to re-submit their application to show the 
whole route over the top of May Hill, rather than just the section leading through 
the two gates.   
 

9.4 A further application was made on 22 March 2007 by Jan James and Helen Hail of 
Yartleton Farm, Yartleton Lane, May Hill, Longhope, Gloucestershire.  Notice was 
served on the following landowners identified by the applicant, namely:  Longhope 
Parish Council; and Mr David Armstrong of the National Trust, The Old Ebworth 
Centre, The Camp, Stroud, Gloucestershire GL6 7ES. 

 
9.5 The revised application was acknowledged by the Definitive Map Unit as duly 

made on 17 September 2009.  
 

9.6 The public path evidence forms submitted in support of the two applications are 
summarised at appendix 2C.   In total, there are 40 public path evidence forms.  A 
table summarising length of use is at appendix 2D 

Page 46



 

 
 
10.   LANDOWNERS’ EVIDENCE 

10.1 National Trust 
The National Trust are the registered owners of the land surrounding the claimed 
route, but not of the track itself.  Jon Dearlove, solicitor for the National Trust, 
wrote on 2 March 2011 following a query from the County Council about byelaws.  
He replied “…So far as I can ascertain we have not, although I am told that we 
have recently installed a locked gate over what I presume is the route of the 
claimed bridleway, and so we are interested in the application….”  
 
The National Trust were formally consulted on 19 May 2015.  No further response 
was made.  

 
10.2 Longhope Parish Council  

Longhope Parish Council replied on 2 July 2015:  “Further to your letter of 19 May, 
this application was discussed at the meeting of Longhope Parish Council on June 
15, and I have since checked our parish files.  I have found the enclosed minutes 
which show the matter was discussed by the parish council in Autumn 2006, but 
can find no further documentary evidence about the right of way that would meet 
the criteria in your letter. 
 
Minutes of the Meeting of Longhope Parish Council, 18 September 2006 
A letter had been received from a resident on May Hill regarding riding their horses 
over May Hill.  They would like to change the status of the footpath to a bridleway.  
A discussion took place and the parish councillors unanimously agreed that as the 
access roads were owned by the parish council then permission should not be 
given.  The clerk will write to the resident concerned. 
 
Minutes of the Meeting of Longhope Parish Council, 20 November 2006 
The minutes from the May Hill Society AGM were read.  This led to a discussion 
on the proposal from a resident on May Hill to upgrade the footpath DLH 9 to a 
bridleway.  The clerk said that she had not replied to the resident.   The Chairman 
reminded the councillors that this was discussed at the last meeting.  He said that 
considerable research had been carried out regarding the history of the paths on 
May Hill and there had never been a bridleway.  Longhope Parish Council owns all 
the paths leading up to the top of the Hill and permission has not been given for 
horse riders to use them.  May Hill is a SSSI and therefore needs to be preserved 
and protected.  If the footpath were to be upgraded for horse riders then mountain 
bikers could use it.  Further upgrades would enable off road vehicles to exercise 
the right to use the paths.  The residents have been consulted and they are 
against any upgrading of the footpath.  The clerk was instructed to reply to the 
resident summarising the discussion.”  
 

10.3 Mary Torill Freeman, Home Farm, Huntley, Glos 
Ms Freeman was consulted on 19 May 2015.  No response has been received.  

 
10.4 Timothy Heaysman and Heather Clarke, Bearfoot Cottage, May Hill, 

Longhope 

Page 47



 

Mr Heaysman and Ms Clarke were consulted on 19 May 2015.  No response has 
been received.   

 
10.5 Neil Addison, Yartleton House, Yartleton Lane, May Hill, Longhope  

Mr Addison was consulted on 19 May 2015.  No response has been received.  
 

  
11.    DOCUMENTARY EVIDENCE 

 The following sources have been examined by the County Archivist at 
Gloucestershire Archives to see whether this path is marked in any way and to 
establish its status.  The sources have then been checked by the Asset Data 
(PROW Definitive Map) Officer.  Additional sources at Herefordshire Record Office 
were checked to establish the status of the way where it continues into 
Herefordshire.  

 
11.1  Longhope Inclosure Award, 1874 (Q/RI 91) (2E) 
 Official map with award, 1874.  Area inclosed: “May Hill Commons, Hopes Wood 

and Barefoot Wood”.  Map of areas inclosed gives some place-names and names 
of farms.  Scale 26.6 inches to 1 mile.  Award: 1874 (sealed copy, deposited 
1874), allotment (1 acre) for the labouring poor; schedule of persons receiving 
money payments in lieu of small allotments, with amount, reference to numbers on 
tithe map of lands in respect of which allotments were made, acreage and tenure.  
Schedule of allotments (map references) names and parish of abode of allottees, 
tenure by which allotments are to be held and by which lands in respect of which 
allotments were made/held, number on tithe map of latter.  Exchange of a few old 
inclosures.  Allotment for exercise and recreation under Inclosure Award made to 
the Churchwardens and Overseers of the Poor (4 acres) at the summit of May Hill. 

 
 Point A is lettered I on the Inclosure Map.  The route to B and beyond to the 

recreation grounds (point D) is shown as part of the road or way numbered XI, 
which the award describes as “One other Private Carriage and Occupation Road 
of the width of Thirty feet and numbered XI on the said map commencing at a 
point marked T on the said Map and extending thence in a Southeasterly direction 
to and terminating at the said point marked I on the said Map which said road is 
set out for the use of the persons interested for the time being in the Allotments 
numbered [73-88, 105-116, and 119-129 (award lists these by individual number)] 
on the said Map and the Old Inclosures numbered 140, 141, 142 on the said Tithe 
plan.   

 
 And I direct and appoint that the expense of maintaining and repairing the said 

Private Carriage and Occupation Road shall for ever hereafter be raised by rate to 
be levied on the said allotments….and the said Old Inclosures numbered 140, 
141, 142 in proportion to the amounts at which the said Allotments and Old 
Inclosures shall be respectively be rated to the relief of the poor.” 

 
 The allotments and old inclosures in question are situated to the east and west of 

the described route.  
 

Page 48



 

 A route running on the western fringe of the hill is shown partly as “Ancient Public 
Road” and partly as route numbered 1, which is set out in the awards as a Public 
Carriage Road or Highway of the width of thirty feet, running from points O to L on 
the inclosure map.  

 
 The summit of the hill is described as “Recreation Ground” and given plot number 

75.  It is awarded to “the Churchwardens and Overseers of the Poor of the said 
Parish of Longhope containing four acres to be held by them and their successors 
in trust as a place for exercise and recreation for the Inhabitants of the said Parish 
and neighbourhood.” 

 
 A further way (the northern section of the claimed route) is shown by twin pecked 

lines coloured yellow, numbered XIV, running north from point X (the summit, point 
E) to Y on the parish boundary with Aston Ingham, from which it is shown by a 
dashed line.   It is described in the Award as “One other Public Carriage Road or 
Highway of the width of Thirty feet numbered XIV on the said Map commencing at 
a point marked X on the said Map and extending thence in a Northerly direction 
through allotments numbered 81 and 28 to and terminating at a point marked Y on 
the said Map.” 

 
 “Inclosure Commissioners….and whereas the Valuer acting in the matter of the 

above mentioned Inclosure has set out and appointed amongst others the 
following Public Carriage Roads or Highways that is to say…one other numbered 
XIV… 

 And whereas it appears to the Inclosure Commissioners for England and Wales 
that it is not necessary for Public Convenience that the said Public Carriage Roads 
or Highways should be made of hard materials and certified by two Justices.  Now 
we the Inclosure Commissioners for England and Wales under our Hands and 
Seal by virtue of the power vested in us by the “Acts for Inclosure Exchange and 
Improvement of Land” Certify that the said Roads are sufficiently formed having 
reference to the nature and situation thereof…. 

 
 The Longhope Inclosure Award of 1874 was made under the Inclosure Act of 

1845, as amended by the 1857 Inclosure Act, using powers granted by a local Act 
dated 1868.  

 
11.2  Longhope Tithe Map (1841) and Apportionment (1838) (GDR/T1/116) 
 Apportionment- whole parish (2,835 acres).  James White and John Read of 

Newland, valuers.  Map, not dated, of whole parish.  Scale 13.3 inches to 1 mile.  
Uncoloured map.  Map is in poor condition.  

 
 The area of May Hill Common is not shown in detail, except for the old inclosures 

mentioned in the inclosure award, which are identified.  Area of interest marked as 
“May Hill Common”, and given plot number 139.  The claimed route is not shown, 
but the route along the western fringe of common shown by double pecked lines.  
In the accompanying apportionment, under “Waste Lands”, plot 139 is recorded 
with plots 70, 89 and 172 and described as May Hill Common, 215 acres, 1 rood 
and 19 perches.  139A, 139B, 139C, 139D and 139E are described as “Common 
Pasture”, 4a 1r 1p in extent.  Plots 164 and 1100 are also described as “Common 
Pasture”; plot 935 is described as “road” (28 perches)  

Page 49



 

 
11.3  Ordnance Survey 1st edition 1” to 1 mile map, published 1830  
 The presentation of the area is not completely clear, but the route seems to be 

shown by two lines in common with other lesser routes.  
 
11.4 Ordnance Survey Drawing, 2” to 1 mile, surveyed 1811 (British Library OSD 

174) (2F) 
 Survey drawing for Ordnance Survey 1” to 1 mile first edition map (see 11.3).  

Drawings are at 2” to 1 mile scale and are coloured.  There is no key but yellow 
and green are used to show agricultural land, darker green for woodland, blue for 
watercourses and red for masonry buildings.  Roads and tracks are shown 
uncoloured, except for main roads which are shown yellow.  Field boundaries are 
also shown.  Relief is shown by hachuring and ink washes. 

 
 Claimed route is clearly shown uncoloured between twin pecked lines running 

across the common, past the clump of trees on the summit and then joining Folly 
Lane at the eastern end.  The modern route which runs around the northern and 
western periphery of May Hill is not shown.   

 
11.5  Ordnance Survey 25” to 1 mile map, 1st edition, sheets Glos 24.9 (1883) and 

24.5 (1889)  
 Southern section of claimed route (A to D) shown by two full lines. Boundary 

features are shown by a solid line crossing the claimed route at its eastern end 
(point A) and mid-way to the summit (between points C and D), mid-way between 
points E and F, and also where the route crosses into Herefordshire (point F).  
Section close to summit (D to E) is shown by double pecked lines; the section from 
the summit north to the county boundary (E to F) is shown by twin pecked lines 
within two solid lines. Another north-south route is shown by twin pecked lines, 
joining the claimed route at two points between E and F.  The continuation of the 
route north-east into Herefordshire is shown by twin pecked lines, running past an 
old quarry, and leading towards Clifford’s Mesne.  No indication is given as to 
status for either the Gloucestershire or Herefordshire sections.   

 A copy of the 6” to 1 mile map for 1883, enlarged to 1: 7,500 is at appendix 2H. 
 
11.6  Ordnance Survey 25” to 1 mile map, 2nd edition, 1903, sheets Glos 24.5 and 

24.9  
 Southern section of the claimed route (A to D) is shown by two full lines.  Section 

running over the summit (D to E) is shown by twin pecked lines.  Section E to F is 
shown by twin pecked lines within two solid lines.  The criss-crossing additional 
route shown on the 1st edition between E and F is not depicted.  Boundary 
features are only shown at points A and F.  Continuation into Herefordshire is 
shown by twin pecked lines.  No indication of status is given.  

 A copy of the 6” to 1 mile map for 1903, enlarged to 1: 7,500 is at appendix 2I. 
 
11.7  Ordnance Survey 25” to 1 mile map, 3rd edition, 1923, sheets Glos 24.5 and 

24.9  
 Claimed route shown by double pecked lines, with a gate or boundary feature at 

both ends of the claimed route (A and F).  The section north of the summit is 
shown by much more closely separated pecked lines and is annotated “F.P.”.  
Status of southern section is undefined. 

Page 50



 

 A copy of the 6” to 1 mile map for 1923, enlarged to 1: 7,500 is at appendix 2J. 
 
11.8 Ordnance Survey 1:2,500 scale map, sheets SO 7824-7924 and SO 7825-7925 

(1972)  
 Claimed route shown by double pecked lines, annotated “Track” over the southern 

section, and “path” over the section north of the summit.   
 
11.9  Bryant’s Map of Gloucestershire, 1824 (2G) 
  Northern section of claimed route shown by two lines running from Yartleton Lane 

across county boundary to top of May Hill, named “May Hill & Common”.  
Southern section of route is less distinct, owing to the hachuring, but route 
appears to be shown continuing south towards present Bearfoot Cottage. Bryant’s 
key identifies the way as a lane or bridleway.  

 
11.10 Greenwood’s Map of Gloucestershire, 1824  
  May Hill is named and shown by hachuring and by stippling.  Stippling is used to 

denote “heaths and commons”; roads or ways are shown on the map leading onto 
‘commons’ but not continuing.  The claimed route is not shown.  Greenwood’s key 
distinguishes between cross roads and toll roads.   

 
11.11 Inland Revenue, maps compiled under the Finance Act, 1910, based on 

Ordnance Survey 25” to 1 mile c.1902 edition, marked up by Inland Revenue 
c.1915 (D2428/3/18/13), and reference books or files  

 D2428/3/24/9- Route shown running through part of hereditament 397. 
 D2428/1/65- Hereditament 397 described as “May Hill Common” with no deduction 

for Right of Way or User.  
 
11.12  Maps deposited with County Planning Officer under Rights of Way Act, 

1932 S1, 3 (CP/D) 
  Nothing relevant 
 
11.13  Parish Council File, Rights of Way Act, 1932 
 P206a PC1/1- Parish Council minutes, 1894-1909 (1 volume).  Not checked.  

Nothing else appears relevant. 
 
11.14  Duplicate Copies of Tithe or Inclosure Awards 
 MF 1127/126- Microfilm copy of tithe map 
 PC 1812/1- Modern hand-drawing of tithe map 
 
11.15 Private Estate Maps and Sale Particulars 
 Plan of estates of Thomas Foley, 1774-75 (D2528) 
 The area of the Common is not shown in detail.   
 Survey of estates of Benjamin Hyett, 1780 (D6/E4) 
 The area of the Common is not shown  
 Sale particulars of the Longhope Estate, 1917 (PA 206/2) 
 The area of the Common is not covered by the sale. 
 
11.16 Footpath or highway diversion orders deposited with Clerk of the Peace 

(Q/SRh) 
None held for Longhope.  

Page 51



 

 
11.17 Plan of Public Schemes deposited with Clerk of Peace (Q/RUm) 
 Not checked. 
 
11.18 District Council Clerk’s correspondence 
 DA 24/113- Highway Committee minutes, 1923-30 (1 vol.) Not checked  
 DA 24/132/52- Clerk’s correspondence file for rights of way in Longhope 1938-74 

(3 files).  Checked, not relevant 
 
11.19 County Council Solicitor’s correspondence  

Nothing relevant.  
 
11.20 County Surveyor: papers relating to survey of footpaths under National 

Parks and Access to the Countryside Act, 1949 (K687) 
  Submission map and statement (K687/1/5) 
  There are two versions of the submission map.  One (in poor repair) shows the 

route extending north to the recreation grounds, the whole extent being numbered 
61.  The schedule does not appear to have survived, but a parish submission 
document indicates that the route is shown on a parish map and on the OS map 
as well as the inclosure award.  It queries whether the status of the route is FP or 
BR, deciding that it is FP.  The decision was made to include the route in the 
submission.  The second version of the map describes the route, unnumbered, as 
“Private CW”, i.e. private carriageway.  

  Draft map and Modified Draft map 
  Route shown by a solid purple line, numbered 9, indicating that the route was 

shown as a public footpath.   
Objections to Draft map  
No objection file is held for this path.   
Provisional map (K687/3/7)  
Route shown numbered 9 and extending to the north of the recreation grounds.  
Provisional statement (K687/3/29)  
Route 9 described as FP, submitted by the Parish Council and shown on the OS 
1924 edition.  

 
11.21 Victoria County History of Gloucestershire, volume 12    

Yartleton Lane, which emerges from a criss-cross of lanes just above Dursley 
Cross, (57) runs north-westwards along May hill’s west side and its highest point, 
over boggy ground, was made a public highway when the hill’s summit was 
inclosed in 1874. (58) 
57 

OS Map 1”, sheet 43 (1831 edn).  
58 

GA, Q/RI 91; see Glouc.Jnl 12 June 1875.  

 
11.22 Aston Ingham Tithe Map and Apportionment (HRO, OS 100) (2K) 

Map 1839, apportionment and schedule 1841.  Map sealed as first class, surveyed 
by William Price of Ross.  Colour is used on the map to show roads, watercourses 
and masonry buildings (no key).  Roads are additionally annotated with a plot 
number 
The area of May Hill Common shown blank with no features (e.g. paths or ways) 
depicted running across it.  Map is damaged, but plot number given as 426, and 
named as “May Hill” 

Page 52



 

Roads are shown leading on to the edge of the common from the north-east 
corner, numbered  947, 948 and 949.  A road numbered 950 leads onto the 
common from the western side.   
 
Colouring is also used to show private roads, for example 631, leading to The 
Oaks.  Such private roads are included in the main body of the schedule under the 
occupier’s name.  For plot number 631, the owner and occupier are given as 
Thomas Rudge and it is described as “Part of occupation Road” 23 perches)   
 
At the end of the schedule are two categories “Waste” and “Roads”.   
 
Under “waste” is listed plot 426 Part of May Hill Common 82 acres, 2 roods, 31 
perches; no sum is entered under “amount of rent charge apportioned upon the 
several lands and payable to the Rector”. .  
 
Under “Roads”: 
947 Road from Hill across the Road at the top of Pedlinghams Gardens 33 

perches 
948 Road from the top of Collins’s Garden to Boundary 8 perches  
949 Road leading towards the Glass House    16 perches  
950 Road leading from May Hill to Skaldbrain  1 rood 1 perch 
951 Road leading out of May Hill to New House Wood  21 perches  
956 Road from May Hill to Upper Barrell   1 rood 2 perches  
 
All of these roads are rated as untithable.   

 
11.23 County Surveyor: papers relating to survey of footpaths under National 

Parks and Access to the Countryside Act, 1949 (HRO, AC14) 
Draft Statements (AC14/1/8) 
Ross and Whitchurch RDC (October 1952)  
Statement annexed to the Draft Map, giving particulars of the Rights of Way, 
subsisting or reasonably alleged to have subsisted on 1st October 1952 
List of footpaths and bridleways 
18 From CRD [county road] at Crews Hill to P[arish] boundary 600 yards SE 

of Yartleton 
20 From CRD, 300 yards SE of Hay Wood Farm to P bdy 600 yards SE of 

Yartleton  
20A From FP 20, 500 yards SSE of Hay Wood Farm to P bdy 100 yards due S  
20B End of CRD, 430 yards SSE of Hay Farm to P bdy at W edge of Newent 

Wood   
Hearings (AC14/5) 
Catalogue searched, nothing relevant, all dated either 1955 or 1956  
Appeal Briefs (AC14/6) and Declarations (AC14/7) 
Nothing in catalogue appears to be relevant 
Dated either 1958 or 1959  
 

11.24 Quarter Sessions Highway Orders (HRO Q/SR)  
Q/SR 142-44 
Aston Ingham Deviation of Road, Easter 1855 
Diversion of part of road from Aston Crews to the Lea, close to Lea village.  

Page 53



 

Searched, not relevant  
Q/SR 162-63 
Aston Ingham Stopping up of highway, Easter 1874  
Plan shows highway in the Parish of Aston Ingham proposed to be stopped up as 
unnecessary for public use, scale 3 chains to 1 inch  
Route shown by a red line leading south or south-east from Stank Cottage on 
Barrell Lane past New House and Scaldbrain to a point where it crosses a 
watercourse.  Adjoining ways shown by sienna colouring.  Southern end of route 
marked “to May Hill”.   Total length of way was 1,289 yards.    
Searched, not relevant  
 

 
12.   CONSULTATIONS  
 
12.1 Aston Ingham Parish Council 

Heather Hobbs, Clerk to Aston Ingham Parish Council wrote to the applicants on 
28 April 2007 stating “Thank you for your letter informing the Parish Council of 
your intention to establish two tracks as bridleways across Yartleton / May Hill 
Common.  The Council appreciates the need for this application and you have our 
support on this venture.” 

 
12.2 Longhope Parish Council 

Longhope Parish Council are the owners of land at the summit of May Hill and were 
consulted as affected landowners.  Their comments on the application are included 
within section 10 of the report “Landowners’ Evidence”.  

 
12.3 Forest of Dean District Council  
  Mrs J Lodge, Planning Officer Local Plans for Forest of Dean District Council was 

consulted on 19 May 2015.  No response has been received.   
 
12.4  County Councillor  
 Councillor Brian Robinson, the County Councillor for Mitcheldean, was consulted 

on 19 May 2015.  No response has been received.  
 
12.5  Ramblers’ Association  

The Forest of Dean Group Footpath Secretary Mrs Sheila Constable responded by 
e-mail dated 10 July 2015:  “On behalf of the FOD Group of the Ramblers, thank 
you for your consultation on the claim to upgrade the FP DLH/9 on May Hill. 
 
Based on reliable local information there has been a pedestrian only gate at Grid 
OS 698 208 since 1986. Therefore most of the evidence forms presented by the 
applicants do not show the exact route of the entire path which is claimed and 
therefore cannot be used as evidence of use for 20 years up to 2007. 
 
However with regard to the evidence that in the 19th century Longhope Parish 
designated the route as a 'road' and therefore horses would have an ancient right 
to use it, then this would of course override any evidence forms claiming usage to 
2007.  We understand there has been a recent High Court judgment at the Court 
of Appeal on this subject in favour of these 'awards' of ancient routes remaining a 

Page 54



 

right of usage even thought they do not appear on the definitive map.  
 
We therefore have no comment to make on this evidence. As you mentioned in an 
earlier message, this 'award' would take precedence. 

 
12.6 British Horse Society 

Lois Eyre, County Access and Bridleways Officer, was consulted on 19 May 2015.  
No response has been received.  

 
12.7 Cyclists’ Touring Club  

John Mallows, the CTC Representative was consulted on 19 May 2015.  No 
response has been received.   

 
12.8 Cheltenham & County Cycling Club 

Jeff Kapp of the Cheltenham and County Cycling Club was consulted on 19 May 
2015.  No response has been received.   

 
12.9 Natural England 

Natural England were consulted on 21 July 2015 as the area crossed by the 
claimed route forms part of a Site of Special Scientific Interest (SSSI).  No 
response has been received.  

 
 
13.   APPLICANTS 
 
13.1 The co-applicant Helen Hail was sent a summary of the historical evidence and of 

the responses to consultations made by the landowners and the user groups.  She 
made the following comments, by letter dated 24 July 2015: 
 

13.2 “The route from Barefoot Cottage onto May Hill was always passable for horses 
until the Council work and notices of early 2006.  I rode it regularly myself from 
1994 until 2006.  I also have copies of the 34 witness statements… from riders 
that affirm access for horses, without let or hindrance.  One of these goes back to 
1926 and another, from Harold John Watkins, recalls his grandfather’s memories 
of the Drove Road over the Hill in the nineteenth century. 
 
In addition in December 2005 Jan James and I were riding the route when we met 
a large party of walkers from the Council and we talked to them.  They told us they 
were on their Christmas Walk.  Perhaps some staff remember the meeting and the 
wide path to get there, through a “hunting gate” with a spring on it, designed for 
riders’ easy access with their horses….”  
   
 

14.   OTHER OBSERVATIONS 
 
14.1 Mr R J Cox, Ashlyn, May Hill (North Dean Rights of Way Association) 

Mr Cox wrote [letter undated, June 2015]:  “I am writing to you in regards to the 
upgrading of footpath DLH 9 on May Hill, to a bridleway (National Trust Land).  
Going back to prior 1986 this path was accessed by field gates at both ends.  The 

Page 55



 

land at that time was leased to the Huntley Manor Estate who used it for sheep 
grazing. 
 
In the early part of 1986 the land was invaded by hippies who caused a terrible 
mess and each time an eviction order was served on them to move, they simply 
moved on to May Hill Common which at that time belonged to the Lord of the 
Manor of Herefordshire.  Each time an order was served on them they simply 
moved across the county boundary and no one seemed able to get rid of them.  
They were always one step ahead of everyone else.  The only thing that did get rid 
of them was that they got snowed in and were lucky to get out alive. 
 
Once they went, the Huntley Estate locked the big gates and put kissing gates by 
the side to stop the same problem happening again.  Another problem had been 
taking place with young lads from the area riding up on to the Hill being uninsured 
and unlicensed on scramble bikes and wearing no helmets either.  
 
Once the work was completed the Huntley Estate had a Huntsman’s Gate put in at 
the North end of Bearfoot Wood and one put in at the South end of Newent Woods 
near to the county boundary.  May Hill Common was given to the National Trust by 
the Trustees of the Lord of the Manor of Herefordshire so as to make it easier for 
any legal problems in the future.  A Huntsman Gate is built into the dry stone wall 
half way across the County Boundary Wall. 
 
Since 1986 no horse rider has been able to access the top of May Hill without 
using one of these three access points which does not match up with any 
registered rights of way in either county.  The three access gates are still in place 
and used by horse riders to this day.   
 
I feel a lot of the evidence forms are not fully explained how the riders got onto the 
summit of the Hill since 1986.  The one evidence form that is certainly correct is 
the one from the late Harold Watkins, in that the route was used as a drovers road 
many years ago.”  

 
14.2 Dr Russ Green, Forest View, Yartleton Lane, May Hill  

Dr Green wrote in June 2015 [letter undated]:  “…I have every sympathy for horse 
riders as there are so few bridleways on May Hill and they have to use the roads 
and lanes.  Being concerned with road safety matters, I often worry about them as 
traffic in many cases have little respect for them. 
 
However my main concern is that if the path is upgraded it could open up all sorts 
of problems.  I served on the Parish Council at Longhope for 12 years and was a 
member when the hippies camped on the Hill and I would certainly not like to see 
that happen again.  I was one of the band of helpers who had to go up and clean 
up the mess they left behind… 
 
The other problem was young people on scramble motorcycles.  They came up off 
the A40 and up on the Hill.  They had no helmets and no registration numbers and 
I’m sure no insurance… 
 

Page 56



 

I’ve often wondered as to how these riders got on to the summit of the hill- did they 
get off their horse and carry it?  Of course I’m only joking as they used unofficial 
routes.  Going back some years, the riders were just not content to ride up and 
over the hill or around it, they set up jumps and this had to be stopped as of 
course where they travelled one behind the other, it left the ground all churned up.   
 
This is not an objection as such but just to give you and your officers some insight 
of what could easily go on again, once it got known that access was available…”  

  
 
15.   LEGAL COMMENTS AND CONCLUSIONS 
 
15.1 Section 53(3)(c)(ii) of the Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981 allows for ways 

presently shown on the Definitive Map and Statement as a footpath, but which 
enjoy a right to lead or ride a horse, to be upgraded to a bridleway. 
 

15.2 Section 31(1) of the Highways Act 1980 states that where a way over any land, 
other than a way of such character that use of it by the public could not give rise at 
Common Law to any presumption of dedication, has been actually enjoyed by the 
public as of right and without interruption for a full period of 20 years, the way is 
deemed to have been dedicated as a highway unless there is sufficient evidence 
that there was no intention during that period to dedicate it. The period of 20 years 
in sub-section (1) is calculated retrospectively from the date when the right of the 
public is brought into question whether by a notice or otherwise.   
 

15.3 Before making an order, the surveying authority must be satisfied that the 
evidence discovered by the Council, when considered with all other relevant 
evidence available, shows that, on the balance of probabilities, the Definitive Map 
and Statement require modification because a right of way which is not shown on 
the Map and Statement subsists, or is reasonably alleged to subsist. 
 

15.4 Section 31(9) of the Highways Act 1980 says that nothing in this section operates 
to prevent the dedication of a way as a highway being presumed on proof of user 
for any less period than 20 years.  If there is no presumption of dedication under 
Section 31 of the 1980 Act, then we will also consider whether the evidence is 
such as to establish, again on a balance of probabilities, dedication at Common 
Law.   
 

15.5 The issue is whether the evidence discovered by the Council, when considered 
with all other relevant evidence available, shows that, on the balance of 
probabilities, the Definitive Map and Statement require modification because a 
right of way which is not shown on the map and Statement subsists, or is 
reasonably alleged to subsist. 
 

15.6 Under Section 32 of the Highways Act 1980, when determining whether a way has 
or has not been dedicated as a highway, or the date on which such dedication, if 
any, took place, shall take into consideration any map, plan or history of the 
locality or other relevant document which is tendered in evidence, and shall give 
such weight thereto as the court or tribunal considers justified in the 
circumstances, including the antiquity of the tendered document, the status of the 

Page 57



 

person by whom and the purpose for which it was made or compiled, and the 
custody in which it has been kept and from which it is produced.   
 

15.7 If it can be established that a public right of way existed at any past date, that right 
continues today.  The right cannot be lost by disuse.  It can only cease to exist if 
the public right to use the route was lawfully removed: until recently that required 
an order from the justices of the peace.  Lack of modern user evidence does not 
obstruct such claims. 
 

15.8 Under the 1874 Longhope Inclosure Award, the southern section of the claimed 
route (A to D) was set out as a private carriageway and occupation road.  The 
northern section (E to F) is set out as a public carriage road.  The summit of the 
hill (over which section D to E runs) was described as “Recreation Ground” and 
awarded to “the Churchwardens and Overseers of the Poor of the said Parish of 
Longhope containing four acres to be held by them and their successors in trust as 
a place for exercise and recreation for the Inhabitants of the said Parish and 
neighbourhood.”   At the same time the route now known as Yartleton Lane, 
fringing the western side of the summit, was set out as a public road. 
 

15.9 The significance of Inclosure Awards to rights of way arises from their value as 
legal documents giving effect to the creation or extinguishment of public highways, 
depending on the powers given to the Inclosure Commissioners.  Awards and 
maps may also provide supporting evidence of other matters, such as the 
existence or status of public rights of way over land adjacent to but outside the 
awarded area.  
 

15.10 It is impossible to fully evaluate inclosure evidence on the basis of extracts from 
the map and award alone.  When the process was carried out under statute, the 
relevant inclosure act must be examined to establish the extent of the powers 
available to the Inclosure Commissioners.  The Longhope Inclosure Award of 1874 
was made under the Inclosure Act of 1845, as amended by the 1857 Inclosure 
Act, using powers granted by a local Act dated 1868.  There is nothing to suggest 
that the setting out of private or public carriageways or the setting aside of land for 
recreational use was outside the powers given within the Acts.  
 

15.11 In Dunlop v SSE and Cambridgeshire County Council (1995) Sedley J decided 
that the words ‘private carriage road’ were deliberately used in the [Glatton with 
Holme] inclosure award as a term of art distinguishing the particular road 
according to the extent of the particular rights over it from the public carriage roads 
on which all subjects enjoyed right of vehicular passage.  Earlier in the judgment, 
as a conclusion arising from his study of 18th and 19th century publications, 
Sedley J had concluded  
“This history furnished compelling evidence for the construction advanced on 
the applicants behalf, namely, that both in the Act of 1801 and the Glatton with 
Holme Inclosure Award of 1820 public and private carriageway roads were 
deliberately distinguished, and that the distinction signified differential rights of 
user, embracing all the monarch’s subjects in the former case and a limited if 
unspecified class in the latter.” 
 

15.12 The Dunlop case gives rise to two inferences: 

Page 58



 

(a) That the terms ‘public’ and ‘private’, when used in the 1801 General Act, have 
the same distinction in respect of any other highway so described in it e.g. 
private road, public bridleway etc; 

(b) The terms when used in any other local acts which derive from the 1801 
General Act probably have the same meaning as that in the Glatton with 
Holme Award 

 
15.13 It has been argued that the terms public and private refer to maintenance 

responsibilities, since maintenance rather than rights dominated highway disputes 
during the inclosure period.  However, this opinion had not been tested in the 
courts.   
 

15.14 Thus the Award treats the three sections of the way quite differently, with A to D 
set out as a private carriageway, D to E as running over an area set out for 
recreation for local inhabitants and E to F as a public carriageway.  There is no 
corresponding award for the Aston Ingham section of May Hill Common, which 
remained (and remains) unenclosed.  The setting out of only the northern section 
(E to F) of the claimed path as a public carriageway does raise the inference that 
the continuation into Herefordshire also carried public carriageway rights, as the 
public carriageway E to F is otherwise ‘landlocked’, in that it does not connect to 
another way of similar status on the Gloucestershire side.  
 

15.15 There is clear evidence that the way across the top of May Hill pre-dated the 
1876 Inclosure Award, which enclosed the former waste or common at the summit 
of May Hill.  The claimed way is shown on the Ordnance Survey 2” to 1 mile 
surveyor’s drawing of 1811by double pecked lines, and on the first edition 1” to 1 
mile map of 1830, which is based on the above survey.  The route is also shown 
by double pecked lines on Bryant’s Map of Gloucestershire for 1824.  Although 
this is clear evidence that the way pre-existed the inclosure award, these sources 
are not conclusive as to status.   
 

15.16 Ordnance Survey Maps have carried a disclaimer since 1888 that any 
representation of a road, track or path is no evidence of the existence of a right of 
way over it.  However, they do provide evidence of the physical existence and 
extent of a way, suggesting (but not proving) that the path has been in use for a 
longer period than that for which user evidence is available.  Although the way is 
shown on the 1811 survey for the 1” to 1 mile map, we cannot draw any 
conclusions as to status.    
 

15.17 Tithe maps provide important evidence as to the existence of a public right of 
way.  The maps were drawn up under statutory authority by the Tithe 
Commissioners under the provisions contained in the Tithe Commutation Act of 
1836 to show all cultivated land, arable and pasture, as tithe was payable on land 
producing crops.  They also had to show waste land and roads, because tithe was 
not payable on these.  Thus a distinction is made between tithable and untithable 
land, with roads clearly marked as untithable.   
 

15.18 Tithe Maps were concerned solely with identifying tithable lands, and not with 
roads and their status, so cannot be used as definitive evidence regarding public 

Page 59



 

roads.  However, Tithe Maps do mark roads quite accurately and, taken in 
conjunction with the schedules, provide useful supporting evidence.   

 
15.19 The claimed way is not shown on the Longhope Tithe Map of 1841.  The purpose 

of the tithe apportionment and map is to distinguish between tithable and 
untithable land.  There are a number of reasons why land might not have been 
subject to tithe in addition to the possibility of it being highway land.  One of these 
was that the land was barren heath or waste land.  The absence of a route from a 
Tithe Map does not necessarily mean that no highway existed.  It may simply 
mean that its existence had no effect on the tithable value of the land.  In Stoney v 
Eastbourne RDC [1927] Ch.367 it was held that it was “going altogether too far 
and misreading the purpose [of the tithe map] to hold that just because a public 
highway was not shown in a tithe map, it did not exist”.  Similarly, the area of May 
Hill Common that is within Aston Ingham parish is stated in the Aston Ingham 
Tithe apportionment (1841) to be “waste” and it is recorded as untithable; no 
physical features are shown over this section of the map, although several roads 
are shown leading on to the “waste” but their continuation is not shown.   
 

15.20 The issue of whether setting out a way in an Inclosure Award as a private 
carriageway extinguished any pre-existing public rights has been addressed in the 
Gallagher and Hall v Howlett cases.  

 
15.21 Commission for New Towns and Worcestershire County Council v J J Gallagher 

Ltd [2002] EWHC 2668 (Ch) concerned the status of a lane claimed to be a public 
vehicular highway but which was shown in an inclosure award of 1824 as a 
“private carriage road”.  Neuberger J accepted other evidence was sufficient to 
show that the route was a public carriageway prior to (and since) the date of the 
award and “in the light of the provisions of the Inclosure Act 1801, that, if (the) lane 
was a public carriageway at that time, the Inclosure Award cannot have deprived it 
of that status.”  However, he did not dissent from the interpretation of “private 
carriage road” adopted by Sedley J in the Dunlop case, that it meant and still 
means “a private road (as opposed to a public highway) for carriages.” 
 

15.22 The judgment in Gallagher is in contrast to an earlier case Hall v Howlett (1976) 
EGD 247 – setting out a new private road almost conclusive that there was no pre-
existing public road in the same position the question was whether an overgrown 
lane was an obstructed public highway. Evidence was given that under an 
inclosure award a “private carriage road and driftway” was created over the line of 
the lane in question. Widgery CJ said:  

“Then we were shown what on any view must be an important matter, namely 
an inclosure award.... I should have thought that if the Commissioners set out a 
new private road in an inclosure award it is almost conclusive that the 
Commissioners did not think that there was already a public highway there, 
because there is no basis to establish and lay out a new private road over 
existing public highway. I think this is a point of considerable weight to go into 
the scales when those scales are operated by the tribunal of fact concerned 
with this matter.”  

 
15.23 Use of the term ‘private’ in a local act does not exclude the possibility that some 

form of public right existed.  That may be obvious from the language of the award 

Page 60



 

itself, e.g. the description of a highway as a ‘public bridleway and driftway and 
private carriage road.’  In some instances it is explicit in the award that the public 
have full rights of use over the ‘private’ road. In other cases it may be that the 
class of authorised vehicular user has, in subsequent case law, been held to 
constitute ‘the public’.  In yet further cases, there may possibly be evidence of 
subsequent user unrelated to the language of the award.  Nonetheless, despite all 
these possibilities, when the term ‘private carriage road’ is used in an Inclosure Act 
or in a local act, the term of itself does not confer or infer a public right of passage 
by vehicle.  

 
15.24 In summary, the inclosure award is conclusive as to public carriageway rights 

over the northern section, from the summit to the boundary with Herefordshire (E 
to F).  However, the award sets out the southern section (A to D) as a private 
carriage road.  The effect of the Gallagher case is that any pre-existing public 
rights would subsist; although the earlier documentary evidence shows that the 
way pre-existed the Award, it is not conclusive as to its status.  Thus, the 
documentary evidence does not support an order to reclassify the southern 
section of the claimed route to a bridleway or restricted byway.   
 

15.25 If we accept that the pre-inclosure evidence is not conclusive for section A to D 
carrying a public carriageway right, then we need to consider whether public use 
has led to presumed dedication of this section as a bridleway or carriageway.  A 
highway may have originated as a private road or path but later became public 
through express dedication or use by the public leading to presumed dedication. 
The case of Reynolds v Barnes (1909) 2Ch 361 is one such example.  However 
further evidence would be required to demonstrate subsequent dedication to the 
public.  
 

15.26 We need to consider whether there has been a full 20 years use by the public of 
section A to D on horseback and, in order to do this, we have to ascertain whether 
there has been an overt act on the part of the landowner to bring it home to users 
that their right is being challenged.  The 20 years use, for the purposes of Section 
31, is to be dated retrospectively from this date of challenge (s.31(2)).   

 
15.27 There is no fixed method by which the public’s right is brought into question, 

though one (the erection of a notice) is expressly referred to in Section 31(3). The 
House of Lords in R (on the application of Godmanchester and Drain) v SSEFRA 
[2007] is the most recent case addressing the meaning of s.31(2) as to what act or 
acts constitute “bringing into question”.  Godmanchester endorses earlier 
judgments in this regard.   

 
15.28 The words “or otherwise” in Section 31 (2) leave the matter at large. In R v 

SSETR ex parte Dorset County Council (1999) Dyson J stated that the challenge 
had to be communicated to the user and that the test to be applied is that set out 
by Lord Denning in Fairey v Southampton CC (1956). Denning said “In order for 
the right of the public to have been brought into question, the landowner must 
challenge it by some means sufficient to bring it home to the public that he is 
challenging their right to use the way, so that they may be apprised of the 
challenge and have a reasonable opportunity of meeting it”.  

 

Page 61



 

15.29 The methods by which the public’s right to use the way might be brought into 
question could include: the locking of a gate; putting up a notice denying the 
existence of a right of way; seeking a declaration that there is no highway over the 
land in question or physically preventing a walker from proceeding along a path. 
“Whatever means are employed… they must be sufficient at least to make it likely 
that some of the users are made aware that the owner has challenged their right to 
use the way as a highway... The persons to whom the challenge has to be brought 
home are the users of the way”. (Lord Dyson in R v Secretary of State for the 
Environment, Transport and the Regions ex parte Dorset CC (1999). 

 
15.30 It is not necessary for it to be the landowner who brings into question the right of 

the public to use the way. The date of calling into question is simply the date 
when, as the result of some action, the public’s entitlement to use the way was put 
in issue.  There are no words in Section 31(2) of the 1980 Highways Act confining 
this action to be by or on behalf of the landowner. It simply sets the date from “... 
when the right of the public to use the way is brought into question”. This view is 
confirmed by Applegarth v Secretary of State for the Environment, Transport and 
the Regions (2001) in which it was stated that anybody with an interest could bring 
into question the right of people to use the path and this needn’t necessarily be the 
landowner. The burden lies on whoever needs to rebut the presumption to show 
that the owner of the path had not intended to dedicate the path as a public 
highway. Whilst in practical terms, the bringing into question will be by or on behalf 
of the landowner, it does not have to be so.  
 

15.31 The application was precipitated by Gloucestershire County Council erecting 
barriers at points B and C in January / February 2006 to prevent vehicles 
accessing May Hill Common, which also had the effect of preventing horses from 
riding across the top of May Hill.  At the same time, a GCC notice was erected 
close to point A (the southern end of the claimed route) which stated “No Horses 
or Motor Vehicles.  Public Footpath Only”.  The erection of new gates and vehicle 
barriers was part of a wider scheme in which drainage, surfacing and clearance 
work was undertaken on public footpaths DLH/8 and DLH/9.  The new barriers 
replaced a locking single-pipe barrier that had been erected c.1986 to deter 
vehicles, but which allowed access by horses alongside.   
 

15.32 Under s.263(1) of the 1980 Highways Act, “every highway maintainable at the 
public expense, together with the materials and scrapings thereof, vests in the 
highway authority who are for the time being the highway authority for the highway 
itself”.  The highway authority’s interest in the land is a limited interest for a 
specific purpose- the protection and maintenance of the highway in the highway 
authority.   

 
15.33 The question arises as to whether the interest vested in the authority by the Act 

is of sufficient extent to enable it effectively to prevent a presumption of dedication 
arising by erecting notices along the line of the way reading “Nor Horses or Motor 
Vehicles - Public Footpath Only”.  It would seem that since the contrary intention 
required to rebut the presumption of dedication based on long user must be that of 
the landowner in the sense of the owner of the land across which the way passes, 
such notices erected by an authority do not have the effect of ousting the 
presumption of dedication that occurs after 20 years as, unless the lack of 

Page 62



 

intention to the notice by the landowner was taken as sufficient indication by him 
that he had no intention to dedicate the way as carrying a higher right.  The 
County Council consulted with the National Trust over the replacement of the 
gates and the erection of signs, but it should be noted that although the National 
Trust have an interest in the way (see Applegarth), as they own the land either 
side of the claimed way and to which DLH/9 is open and gives access.    

 
15.34 As the County Council has a vested interest in the surface of the track in law and 

it had the agreement in 1996 from the owner of the land to which the claimed route 
gives access before erecting the barriers and putting up the signs, then it is 
submitted that the erection of signs and barriers preventing horse use in 1996 
should be considered as the act that brought the right of the public to use the path 
as a bridleway into question, for the purposes of section 31 of the 1980 Highways 
Act.  In any case, these actions gave rise to an application first made on 8 June 
1996 to reclassify public footpath DLH/9 to a bridleway.  

 
15.35 Taking the challenge date to be 1996, then the relevant period for the purpose of 

section 31(1) of the 1980 Highways Act is 1976 to 1996.   
 
15.36 For long usage to give rise to a presumption of dedication, use must be without 

force, secrecy or permission.  If there is express permission to use a route then 
the use is not ‘as of right’.  The issue has been raised as to whether the erection of 
gates in 1986 precluded use by horses over the claimed route at points B and C.  
The hunting gate at point F remains usable by horse riders, and is positioned on a 
right of way.  The bar erected in 1986 close to Bearfoot Cottage at point B could, 
according to witnesses, be by-passed by horse riders; the barrier was to prevent 
unauthorised use by vehicles.  The locked metal gate at point C had a small 
hunting gate next to it that was never locked (witnesses 21 and 22), allowing use 
by horse riders until this hunting gate was replaced by a by-pass metal kissing 
gate and rail in 2006.  
 

15.37 The completed public path evidence forms are summarised at appendix C, and 
their period of use put in table form at appendix D.  40 named individuals 
completed evidence forms.  Use on horseback dates back to 1926 (witness 22), 
with other witnesses claiming use on horseback since 1929 (witness 3) and 1930 
(witness 5).  The use of witness 11, which dates from 1935, should be considered 
to be permissive, as he was a tenant of the Huntley Estate.  Taking the relevant 
statutory period as 1986 to 2006, there are 24 witnesses who used the claimed 
route on horseback for the full twenty years and a further three who used it for 19 
years.  Such use is considered sufficient to raise a presumption of dedication.    
 

15.38 We now turn our attention to the section of path D to E that crosses land at the 
summit of the hill which is registered as a village green under the 1965 Commons 
Registration Act.  There are no public rights of access over a village green but 
there are rights for local inhabitants to indulge in lawful sports and pastimes.  The 
summit of May Hill is owned by Longhope Parish Council.  It was described in the 
1874 Inclosure Award as “Recreation Ground” and awarded to “the Church-
wardens and Overseers of the Poor of the said Parish of Longhope containing four 
acres to be held by them and their successors in trust as a place for exercise and 
recreation for the Inhabitants of the said Parish and neighbourhood.”    

Page 63



 

 
15.39 Any use of the claimed route by local inhabitants over the section that was 

awarded under the 1874 Inclosure Act and then registered as a village green 
should be considered as “by right”, because they have a right to be there provided 
that they were indulging in ‘lawful sports and pastimes’.  Horse riding can be 
considered a lawful sport or pastime, so a claim would fail if use is by local 
inhabitants.  The claim would have to be supported by use by non-local inhabitants 
but it could be argued that the landowner would have found it impossible to 
distinguish and challenge use by non-local inhabitants 
 

15.40 The Village Green application was made on 20 March 1969.  An objection was 
made to the initial registration on 15 June 1973, which sought to exclude 
scheduled rights of way DLH/8 and DLH/9 from the area of land registered.  The 
modified entry became final on 27 June 1973.  With the claimed way excepted 
from the village green registration entry, then use after 1973 on horseback can be 
considered to be “as of right” rather than “by right”, so use over section D to E can 
be taken into account for the purposes of s.31 of the 1980 Highways Act after 
1973.  Use over section D to E would have been “as of right” throughout the 
relevant period of 1986 to 2006.  
 

15.41 There is in additional evidence of use by horse and cart.  A photograph was 
supplied in support of the application showing the use of a horse and cart to collect 
bracken from the summit of May Hill.  The photograph dates to 1930.  In addition, 
David Huggins (witness 3) states that he has used the claimed way since 1929 on 
horseback, horse and cart and on foot, riding, driving horses and moving animals 
and going to work in Gloucester.  In Whitworth v SSEFRA [2010] WWCA Civ 1486 
the issue of sufficiency of user was addressed.  Lord Justice Carnwath thought 
that evidence relating to the use by two cyclists was “insufficient to support a 
finding of use as enjoyment as of right “by the public”.  It is not considered that 
there is sufficient evidence to raise a presumption of dedication of restricted byway 
rights over the section D to E to F.  No evidence has been supplied or discovered 
that any of the exceptions to extinguishment of unrecorded public motor vehicular 
rights under s.67(2) of the 2006 Natural Environment and Rural Communities Act 
have been met.  
 

15.42 Thus the recommendations are that: 
(a) An order be made to reclassify the section of footpath DLH/9 from Folly Lane 

to the summit of May Hill to a bridleway (section A to E on map B); and  

(b) An order be made to reclassify the section of footpath DLH/9 from the summit 
of May Hill north to the boundary with Aston Ingham parish to a restricted 
byway (E to F on map B)   

 
 

15.  APPENDICES 
A. Location Map 1:10,000 
B. Map of May Hill, Longhope 1: 4,500 
C. Summary of public path evidence forms 
D. Table showing length of use  
E. Longhope Inclosure Map, 1874  

Page 64



 

F. Ordnance Survey Surveyor’s Drawing, 2” to 1 mile, surveyed 1811  
G. Bryant’s Map of Gloucestershire, 1824  
H. Ordnance Survey 25” to 1 mile map, 1st edition 
I. Ordnance Survey 25” to 1 mile map, 2nd edition 
J. Ordnance Survey 25” to 1 mile map, 3rd edition 
K. Aston Ingham Tithe Map, 1839  

Page 65



Page 66

This page is intentionally left blank



Page 67



Page 68

This page is intentionally left blank



Page 69



Page 70

This page is intentionally left blank



Witness 

Number  

Name  Period of time 

covered 

Total use 
(before 2006) 

Use 1986-
2006 

Type of use 

1  Harold Watkins 1930-2007 76 years 20 years On foot  

2 Cynthia Palmer 1985-2007 21 years 20 years On horse 

3 David Huggins 1929-2007 77 years  20 years  Horse, foot, horse & 
cart, driving animals 

4 Richard 
Griffiths 

1950-2007 56 years  20 years  On horse, on foot 

5 D M Morgan 1930-2007 76 years  20 years On horse, on foot 

6 Edward Harris 1968-1985 17 years  None in 
relevant period 

On horse 

7 Andrew 
Toomey 

1970-2007 36 years 20 years On horse 

8 John House 1975-1998 23 years  12 years  On horse 

9  Carole Broad 1979-2006 27 years 20 years  On horse 

10 Lorna Griffiths  1990-2001 11 years  11 years On horse 

11 Michael Gifford 1935 onwards 71 years 20 years On horse, driving  

12 Sarah 
Hollingworth 

1978 onwards 29 years  20 years On horse 

13 Sue Mason 1972-1996 24 years 10 years On horse 

14 Sarah Carter 1994-1997; 
2000-2005 

8 years 8 years  On horse 

15 Anthea 
Hamilton 

1982-1989 7 years 7 years On horse 

16 Clare 
Beaumont 
Tilling 

1986 to date 20 years  20 years On horse 

17 Georgina 
Harris 

1982 to date 24 years 20 years  On horse 

18 Jennifer Jones 1942 to end 
2005 

63 years  19 years On horse 

P
a
g
e
 7

1



Witness 
Number  

Name  Period of time 
covered 

Total use 
(before 2006) 

Use 1986-
2006 

Type of use 

19 Jane Chivers 1983 to 2002; 
2005 to date 

20 years 20 years On horse 

20 Jane Gwatkin 1984-2005 21 years 19 years  On horse  

21 Gillian Pugh 1966 to now 40 years 20 years  On horse  

22 Mrs M J 
Smallwood 

1926 to 2000 74 years 14 years  On horse  

23 Roseanne 
Huggins 

From 1940 67 years  20 years  On horse  

24 Jan James  1986 to 2006 20 years 20 years  On horse  

25 Helen Hail 1994-2006 12 years 12 years  On horse  

26 Mrs K Farquhar 1970-2002 32 years  20 years  On horse & foot 

27 Pauline Head  1982-2006 24 years  20 years  On horse  

28 Judy Weekes 1952-1985 33 years 20 years  On horse 

29 Torill Freeman 1954-2006 52 years  20 years  On horse & foot 

30 Rosemary Ker 1984-2005 21 years 19 years On horse  

31 Mrs P Ivens 1956-2007 41 years  20 years  On horse 

32 Pamela 
Robinson 

1974-1980 6 years None  On horse 

33 Miss S J 
Cuthbert 

1965-2006 41 years  20 years  On horse 

34 Mrs Sheila 
Warner 

1953-2006 53 years  20 years  On horse 

35 Roger Liggets  1984-2006 22 years 20 years On horse 

36 Joanne 
Matthews 

1980-1988 8 years  2 years  On horse 

37 Stephanie 
Hocking 

1992-2006 14 years 14 years On horse 

38 Helen Gabriel 2001-2006 5 years 5 years  On horse 

39 Jill Clark 1976-2006 30 years  20 years  On horse  

P
a
g
e
 7

2



Witness 
Number  

Name  Period of time 
covered 

Total use 
(before 2006) 

Use 1986-
2006 

Type of use 

40 Angela 
Badham 

1986-2006 20 years  20 years  On horse  

 

P
a
g
e
 7

3



P
a
g
e
 7

4

T
h

is
 p

a
g

e
 is

 in
te

n
tio

n
a
lly

 le
ft b

la
n
k



No Name Address of 

Witness

Period of time 

covered

Total 

Years

Frequency of 

Use          

Purpose of Use Other Remarks Comments (by Director of 

Environment)
1 Harold 

Watkins

Woodbine Cottage, 

May Hill Village

1930 to date 77 "Umpteen" Walking for pleasure, 

walking over the hill

Width given as enough for horse and 

cart. Gate onto NT land. Witness 

states that in 19th century this path 

was a Drovers Road. Animals driven 

right over hill (along DLH/9), often 

going to London. There was a drovers 

pub in Cathedral Patch called The 

White Horse. Photo included from 

1930 showing horse and cart being 

used on claimed route to collect 

bracken for winter bedding off the hill.

Map completed by witness shows path in 

same position as claimed by applicant. 

Approximate position of White Horse Inn 

marked on map.

2 Cynthia 

Palmer

Upper Box Bush 

Farm, Longhope

1985 onwards 22 48 times a year Riding for pleasure 

across May Hill

Width given as 6 ft. Witness notes 

gates at access and exit to Mayhill

Map completed by witness shows path in 

same position as claimed by applicant. 

3 David 

Huggins

Sands Farm, 

Cliffords Mesne

From 1929 78 Daily at some 

times

Horseback and horse 

& cart and on foot. 

Riding, driving horses 

and moving animals 

and going to work in 

Gloucester

Width given as 12 ft. Gates onto hill 

and off. Gates always accessible. 

GCC erected two barriers in 2006 to 

prevent horse access & erected sign: 

" No horses or motor vehicles. Public 

footpath only".

Map completed by witness shows path in 

same position as claimed by applicant. 

4 Richard 

Griffiths

Dursley Cross 

Farm, Longhope

From 1950 to 

present time

57 Up to 50 times 

a year

Horseback and foot  - 

business and 

pleasure from Dursley 

Cross to Cliffords 

Mesne

Width given as 12 yds. Gates at each 

end  - a bar locked nr Bearfoot 

Cottage which until recently could 

always be passed on horseback. 

Notices near gates saying keep dogs 

under control. Witness believes route 

to be an old Drove Road. 

Map completed by witness shows path in 

same position as claimed by applicant. 

5 D M Morgan Marshes Farm, 

Longhope

From 1930 to 

present day

77 Difficult to say Horseback and on 

foot attending sheep 

and pleasure. 

Longhope and back.

Width given as 8 ft. Gate by the water 

tank at Bear Foot.

Map completed by witness shows path in 

same position as claimed by applicant. 

6 Edward 

Harris

Windyridge, 

Yartleton Lane, May 

Hill

1968 to 1985 17 52 times a year Riding over and 

around Mayhill.

Width given as 2 - 2.5 metres. Gates 

onto N T Land on May Hill.

Map completed by witness shows path in 

same position as claimed by applicant. 

7 Andrew 

Toomey

Clover Patch, 

Yartleton Lane, May 

Hill

1970 to 2007 37 On average 52 

times a year

Riding over May Hill Width given as "adequate". Gates 

onto N T land on May Hill. Notices 

erected early 2006 " No horses or 

motor vehicles. Public footpath only".

Map completed by witness shows path in 

same position as claimed by applicant. 

MODIFICATION ORDER APPLICATION TO UPGRADE FOOTPATH DLH/9 TO A BRIDLEWAY AT MAY HILL

SUMMARY OF PUBLIC PATH EVIDENCE FORMS SUBMITTED IN 2006 AND 2007

Page 1 of 5

P
a
g
e
 7

5



No Name Address of 

Witness

Period of time 

covered

Total 

Years

Frequency of 

Use          

Purpose of Use Other Remarks Comments (by Director of 

Environment)

8 John House Hown Hall, Taynton 1975 to 1998 23 Every two 

weeks

Riding from Taynton 

to May Hill

Width given as 4 metre[s]. Gates not 

locked onto N T land, May Hill.

Map completed by witness shows path in 

same position as claimed by applicant. 

9 Carole Broad Hope Barn, Lea, 

Ross-on-Wye

1979 to 2006 27 More than 20 

times a year

Riding and exercising 

horse. Huntley round 

trip

Width given as 1 m. Hunting gate 

onto N T land. Obstruction early 2006 

by bar across track & around hunting 

gate.

Map completed by witness shows path in 

same position as claimed by applicant. 

Obstructions marked on map. 

10 Lorna 

Griffiths

East Lodge, Newent 

Lane, Huntley

1990 to 2001 11 100 plus a year Horseback, from The 

Folly to common land 

the far side of May Hill

Width given as 1 m. Gate not locked 

onto N T land. Gate onto actual hill 

noted- not locked. 

Map completed by witness shows path used 

in same position as claimed by applicant. 

11 Michael 

Gifford

Elliotts Farm, 

Taynton

1935 onwards 72 Many times Horseback from 

Elliots Farm to 

Yarteldon Lane, for 

pleasure. Ride or 

drive to tend cattle on 

the hill.

Width given as 10 to 12 ft. Tenant of 

land - given permission to use path by 

Huntley Estate

Map completed by witness shows path used 

in same position as claimed by applicant. 

12 Sarah 

Hollingworth

103 Cawper 

Crescent, Bengeo, 

Herts

1978 onwards 29 Weekly - 

approx 2/3 

times a week

Riding over the top of 

Mayhill as part of a 

horse ride.

Width given as variable across its 

duration. Gates each side of the 

common noted.

Map completed by witness shows path used 

in same position as claimed by applicant. 

13 Sue Mason New Hunt Farm, 

Newent Lane, 

Huntley

1972-1996 24 1-2 times a 

week.

Riding home to May 

Hill Village & visiting 

family (home was 

Brynteg, Barrel Lane, 

Longhope).

Width given as adequate. Gate onto  

May Hill separating The Common 

from the track from Hell Corner. No 

notices until 2006.

Map completed by witness shows path used 

in same position as claimed by applicant. 

14 Sarah Carter Yartleton House, 

Yartleton Lane, 

Mayhill

1994-1997 and 

2000-2005

8 24 times a year Riding from May Hill 

Village to Cliffords 

Mesne

Width given as 1 m. Gates onto N T 

land, May Hill and off May Hill to 

Hereford Border . Notices ealry 2006 

by water tank: "No Horses or Motor 

Vehicles. Public Footpath only". 

Notices early 2006. Glos CC barriers 

around gate onto hill & around metal 

bar across path.

Map completed by witness shows path used 

in same position as claimed by applicant. 

15 Anthea 

Hamilton

The Laurels, Barrel 

Lane, Longhope

1982-1989 7 Once or twice a 

week

Riding from one side 

of May Hill to the 

other, for leisure.

Width given as variable. Gate to get 

on and off May Hill, easily accessible 

by foot and horseback.

Map completed by witness shows path used 

in same position as claimed by applicant. 

16 Clare 

Beaumont 

Tilling

Luxtree Farm, 

Barrel Lane, 

Longhope

Since 1986 31 52 times a year Riding from May Hill 

to May Hill village.

Width given as 6 ft. 2 gates either 

side National Trust area on top. 

Access always available through gate.

Map completed by witness shows path used 

in same position as claimed by applicant. 

17 Georgina 

Harris

14 Oak Way, 

Huntley

1982 to date 25 Min 4 a year, 

some times 

weekly

On horseback. 

training endurance 

horse. Ciffords Mesne 

to May Hill village

Width given as 6 ft. No notices until 

2006

Map completed by witness shows path used 

in same position as claimed by applicant. 

Page 2 of 5

P
a
g
e
 7

6



No Name Address of 

Witness

Period of time 

covered

Total 

Years

Frequency of 

Use          

Purpose of Use Other Remarks Comments (by Director of 

Environment)

18 Jennifer 

Jones

Home Farm, 

Dursley Cross, May 

Hill

1942 to end 

2005

63 10 times a year Riding for pleasure 

access to the top of 

May Hill

Width given as 1 m. Gate onto May 

Hill. No notices until early 2006 "No 

horses or motor vehicles. Public 

Footpath only"

Map completed by witness shows path used 

in same position as claimed by applicant. 

Position of obstructions marked on map. 

19 Jane Chivers 8 Muzzle Patch, 

Tibberton

1983 to 2002. 

2005 to date

21 Variable from 

once a year to 

over 40 times a 

year 

Riding from May Hill 

village to May Hill

Width given as "adequate". Unlocked 

gate onto N T land on hill. No notices 

until early 2006 "No horses or motor 

vehicles. Public Footpath only"

Map completed by witness shows path used 

in same position as claimed by applicant. 

Position of obstructions marked on map. 

20 Jane 

Gwatkin

20 Byfords Road, 

Huntley

1984 to 2005 21 Most weeks Riding, exercising of 

horses.

Width given as 1 to 1.5 m. Gates on 

boundary to hill easily openable off a 

horse. No notices until early 2006 "No 

horses or motor vehicles. Public 

Footpath only". Obstruction around 

gate onto hill around metal bar. 

Impossible for horses to pass.

Map completed by witness shows path used 

in same position as claimed by applicant. 

21 Gillian Pugh The Glasshouse, 

May Hill

1966 to now 41 1 to 2 times a 

week

Riding exercising of 

horses on May Hill

Width given as 10 to 12 ft. Witness 

notes: "Five bar gate kept locked and 

hunting gate beside for access onto N 

T land". No notices until early 2006 

"No horses or motor vehicles. Public 

Footpath only"

Map completed by witness shows path used 

in same position as claimed by applicant. 

Position of obstructions marked on map. 

22 Mrs M J 

Smallwood

May Hill, Longhope 1926 to 2000 74 Weekly & 

frequently

Riding for pleasure,  

Old Drovers Road 

over May Hill.

Width given as 3 to 5 yards. One 

large gate and one small hunting gate 

(never locked) each side of top of May 

Hill.

Map completed by witness shows path used 

in same position as claimed by applicant. 

23 Roseanne 

Huggins

Sands Farm, 

Cliffords Mesne

From 1940 67 Frequently Horseback and foot - 

moving sheep and 

ponies. Cliffords 

Mesne to Gloucester 

& May Hill village

Width given as 12 ft. Gates giving 

access to the hill -always open. No 

notices until early 2006 - erected by 

GCC by Bearfoot Cottage "No horses 

or motor vehicles. Public Footpath 

only"

Map completed by witness shows path used 

in same position as claimed by applicant. 

Position of obstructions marked on map. 

24 Jan James Yartleton Farm, 

May Hill

1986 to 2006 20 Twice a week, 

sometimes 

more

Horseback, for 

pleasure, exercising 

ponies from home to 

May Hill village

Width given as "adequate for horses". 

Gates given access to the top of May 

Hill & May Hill common - always 

accessible for horses. No notices until 

early 2006 - erected by Bearfoot 

Cottage "No horses or motor vehicles. 

Public Footpath only"

Map completed by witness shows path used 

in same position as claimed by applicant. 

Position of obstructions marked on map. 

Page 3 of 5

P
a
g
e
 7

7



No Name Address of 

Witness

Period of time 

covered

Total 

Years

Frequency of 

Use          

Purpose of Use Other Remarks Comments (by Director of 

Environment)

25 Helen Hail Thorneycroft 

Cottage, Tibberton

1994 to 

beginning of 

2006

12 Approx 24 

times a year

Riding for pleasure 

over May Hill

Width given as various but adequate 

for horse and rider. Gates onto N T 

land May Hil and off May Hill at 

Hereford border. No notices until early 

2006 when path blocked by water 

tank "No horses or motor vehicles. 

Public Footpath only"

Map completed by witness shows path in 

same position as claimed by applicant. 

Position of obstructions marked on map. 

26 Mrs K 

Farquhar

Oakhurst, Yartleton 

Lane, May Hill

1970 to 2002 32 150 to 200 

times a year

Horseback & foot. 

Longhope to May Hill 

and Yartleton Lane to 

May Hill

Width given as 2 to 3 yds. Two 

unlocked gates, one each side, top of 

the hill i.e one in Gloucestershire and 

one in Herefordshire.

Map completed by witness shows path used 

in same position as claimed by applicant. 

27 Pauline 

Head

Brick Cottage, 

Gorsley, Ross-on-

Wye

1982 to 2006 24 Approx 10 

times a year

Riding, for pleasure, 

over May Hill from one 

side to other - both 

directions

Wdith given as 8 ft. Witness notes 

gate onto National Trust land at May 

Hill, never locked. No notices until 

early 2006 near Bearfoot Cottage "No 

horses or motor vehicles. Public 

Footpath only"

Map completed by witness shows path used 

in same position as claimed by applicant. 

Position of obstructions marked on map. 

28 Judy 

Weekes

Village Farm 

House, Penhow, 

Caldicot

1952 to 1985 33 Approx 45 to 

50 times a year

Riding to Cliffords 

Mesne from May Hill 

village. 

Witness notes one large gate and one 

small gate (neither locked)

Map completed by witness shows path used 

in same position as claimed by applicant. 

Position of gate marked on map.

29 Torill 

Freeman

Home Farm, 

Huntley

1954 to 2006 52 Dozens of 

times a year

Riding and walking 

home through my 

woods and over May 

Hill back to my woods

Wdith given as 1 m. Witness notes 

unlocked metal hunting gates onto 

and off N T land on May Hill. No 

notices until early 2006 by water tank 

"No horses or motor vehicles. Public 

Footpath only"  [on 2006 form witness 

states that there were gates "only 

since mid 1970s"

Map completed by witness shows path used 

in same position as claimed by applicant.  

Position of obstructions marked on map. 

30 Rosemary 

Ker

The Grove, Taynton 1984 to 2005 21 50 times a year Exercising horse on N 

T land on top of May 

Hill

Width given as 1 m. Witness notes 

gates onto common land, hunting 

gate not locked. No notices until 2006 

by water tank "No horses or motor 

vehicles. Public Footpath only"

Map completed by witness shows path used 

in same position as claimed by applicant. 

Position of obstructions marked on map. 

31 Mrs P Ivens Brynteg, Barrel 

Lane, Longhope

1956 to 2007 41 20 to 30 times 

a year 

Horse exercise from 

Barrel Lane over May 

Hill

Width given as 8 feet. Gates onto 

National Trust land always unlocked. 

No notices until early 2006 near 

Bearfoot Cottage "No horses or motor 

vehicles. Public Footpath only"

Map completed by witness shows path used 

in same position as claimed by applicant. 

Position of two wooden barriers marked on 

map.     

32 Pamela 

Robinson

Jeffroys Farm, 

Minsterworth

1974 to 1980 6 Approx 10 

times a year

Riding from one side 

of May Hill to the 

other.

Width given as 10 ft. Witness states 

that gates were always accessible to 

horses.

Map completed by witness shows path used 

in same position as claimed by applicant. 

Page 4 of 5

P
a
g
e
 7

8



No Name Address of 

Witness

Period of time 

covered

Total 

Years

Frequency of 

Use          

Purpose of Use Other Remarks Comments (by Director of 

Environment)

33 Miss S J 

Cuthbert

Fern Cottage, 

Cliffords Mesne

1965 until 

blocked

42 Approx 20 - 30 

times a year. 

Riding from one side 

of May Hill to the 

other.

Width given as 8 ft. Gates onto N T 

hill always unlocked. No notices until 

early 2006 near Bearfoot Cottage "No 

horses or motor vehicles. Public 

Footpath only"

Map completed by witness shows path used 

in same position as claimed by applicant. 

Position of two wooden barriers marked on 

map.                                                                                                               

34

Mrs Sheila 

Warner

Southwick Farm, 

Tewkesbury 1953 to present 53

Numerous 

occasions 

(weekly)

Exercising pony to Barrel 

Lane area & Clifford 

Mesne area

Width given as nearly 2 ft. Witness notes 

one large gate and one narrow gate onto 

May Hill

Map completed by witness shows path used in 

same position as claimed by applicant on initial 

claim

35

Roger Liggets

West Stable, 

Tibberton Court, 

Tibberton 1984 to present 23 30 times a year 

On horseback, horse 

training - Huntley School 

Equitation to May Hill Width given as 9 ft.

Map completed by witness shows path used in 

same position as claimed by applicant on initial 

claim

36

Joanne 

Matthews

16 Blenheim Drive, 

Appledown, Newent 1980 to 1988 8

12 to 15 times a 

year 

Horse training - from 

Huntley School of 

Equitation to May Hill, 

hacking with clients, 

exercising. Width given as "1/2 metres".

Map completed by witness shows path used in 

same position as claimed by applicant on initial 

claim

37 Stephanie 

Hocking

10 Appleton 

Avenue, The 

Reddings, 

Cheltenham

1992 to 2006 14 Once or twice a 

week

On horseback, 

hacking, exercise of 

horses, from Huntley 

over May Hill

Width given as approximately 1 

metre. Gates on entrance onto hill. 

Car barrier at bottom of path.

Map completed by witness shows path used 

in same position as claimed by applicant on 

initial claim

38 Helen 

Gabriel

Croft Bank Farm, 

Little London, 

Longhope

2001 to 2006 5 50 plus times a 

year 

On horseback, 

exercising horse to 

May Hill from Huntley 

Hill

Width given as 8 ft. Witness notes a 

hunting gate at the end of the track 

leading onto May Hill.

Map completed by witness shows path used 

in same position as claimed by applicant on 

initial claim

39 Jill Clark Lower Luxtree, 

Barrel Lane, 

Longhope

1976 to present 30 Min 2 to 3 

times a week

Horse riding to and 

from top of May Hill

Width given as 4 - 5ft? Gates on to 

the hill but always open.

Map completed by witness shows path used 

in same position as claimed by applicant on 

initial claim

40 Angela 

Badham

Camwilger House, 

Ross Road, 

Longhope

1986 to 2006 20 100 times a 

year. 

Horse riding access to 

May Hill

Width given as 6 ft. Gate on entry to 

May Hill - large enough to allow a 

horse through without getting off.

Map completed by witness shows path used 

in same position as claimed by applicant on 

initial claim

Page 5 of 5

P
a
g
e
 7

9



P
a
g
e
 8

0

T
h

is
 p

a
g

e
 is

 in
te

n
tio

n
a
lly

 le
ft b

la
n
k



Page 81



Page 82

This page is intentionally left blank



Page 83



Page 84

This page is intentionally left blank



Page 85



Page 86



Page 87



Page 88

This page is intentionally left blank



Page 89



Page 90

This page is intentionally left blank



Page 91



Page 92

This page is intentionally left blank



 1

COMMONS AND RIGHTS OF WAY COMMITTEE 
 

29 September 2015 
 

PUBLIC QUESTIONS 
 

A. Questioner’s Name: Mr D Rice 
 

Response  

 
QUESTION 1:  Given that only 12 % of the application objective 
has been achieved, with 63% of the two year timescale expired, 
are Members of the CROW Committee able to give the GCC 
any input, advice and ideas -  for ways it might action 44 
applications (the target balance)  within the 9 months remaining 
from the two year objective period? Note: The 12% quoted 
includes the two applications being considered today. 
  

  

 

Members of the Committee understand that the reference to 
processing 50 applications in 2 years was made in relation to 
potential changes in legislation under, what was at the time, the 
De-Regulation Bill. That has now become the Deregulation Act 
2015, however the sections relating to this area of work will not 
have a commencement date earlier than April 2016, and the 
guidance on interpretation of the legislation has not been 
released by DEFRA. Members have recommended to officers 
that they take steps to prepare for the introduction of that 
legislation, so that when it does commence, the County Council 
is in a position to use the changes in legislation to expedite the 
processing of applications. We understand that this work is 
already in progress. 

B. Questioner’s Name: Mr D Rice Response  
 

 
QUESTION 2:  Based on the duty of the CROW Committee, set 
out in Section 3.8, table 3:07 (3) of the GCC Constitution, what 
actions do Members of this committee believe GCC should take 
- to ensure that it clears the application backlog of 122 
undetermined and unresolved cases within an acceptable period 

With reference to our answer to the first question, we believe 
that officers should continue with the progress that they are 
making in addressing the backlog. It is clear that recent changes 
in staffing and internal process are starting to make a difference, 
and it is to be hoped that the Deregulation Act will help to 
expedite the work. 

A
g
e
n

d
a
 Ite

m
 8

P
a
g
e
 9

3



 2

of time, as it now represent more than a 30 year backlog based 
on the last four years performance? 
 

C.  Questioner’s Name: Mr S Hemmings 
 

Response 

 
QUESTION 3: Why does the CROW Committee agenda fail to 
include a detailed report on the backlog of Applications to Modify 
the Definitive Map of Public Rights of Way –  which GCC was 
unwilling to deliver up to the Scrutiny meetings but said it would 
be providing to the CROW Committee? 

 

Members of the Committee receive regular reports on the 
progress in dealing with the backlog of DMMO applications; this 
is not done as part of the committee meeting, as the remit of the 
Committee is to deal with the various regulatory functions of the 
County Council covering the registration of town and village 
greens, and Definitive Map orders, rather than the performance 
management of the area of work. However, members of the 
Committee are active in the appropriate arenas to ensure that 
whenever possible, appropriate resourcing is directed to this 
area of work. 

 

P
a
g
e
 9

4


	Agenda
	3 Minutes
	6 Application for a Definitive Map Modification Order to Upgrade Public Footpaths MBL/11 (Part) MBL/13 to Bridleways Toadsmoor Road, Parish of Bisley with Lypiatt
	1A
	1B
	Period of Use Table
	Evidence forms
	1E
	1F
	1G

	7 Application for a Definitive Map Modification Order to Upgrade Public Footpath DLH/9 to a Bridleway May Hill, Parish of Longhope
	2A
	2B
	Period of Use Table
	Summary of Evidence forms
	2Ei
	2Eii
	2f 2G
	2H
	2I
	2J

	8 Public Questions

